

Contact Jason Watkins

Our Ref P2108447JC04V01

Pages 2 + Attachments

18 November 2024

Precinct Capital Pty Ltd Att: Simon Zadow By email

Dear Simon,

Flood Impact Statement – Section 4.55 Modification to Approved Subdivision at 14-98 Old Castlereagh Road, Penrith, NSW

#### 1 Introduction

Martens & Associates Pty Ltd (**Martens**) have prepared this flood impact statement to support a s 4.55 modification application to be submitted to Penrith City Council (the **Council**) proposing amendments to Development Application DA 9876 (the **DA**) approved on 31 March 2022 for a 93 lot community title subdivision of 14 – 98 Old Castlereagh Road, Castlereagh, NSW (the **Site**).

The proposed modifications are shown on the proposed site layout (Attachment 1) and consist of amalgamation of a number of lots, reducing the total number of lots at the site from 93 to 70, and associated minor alterations to the internal road layout.

#### 2 Flooding Considerations

The following reports relevant to flood risk management at the Site were approved as part of the DA (the **Approved Reporting**) (Attachment 2):

- 1. Amended Flood Emergency Response Plan Version 6.2 prepared by Molino Stewart Pty Ltd dated March 2022.
- 2. Flood Evacuation Report (Draft) prepared by Molino Stewart Pty Ltd dated 5 November 2021.

The Approved Reporting noted the following in respect of flood risk management:

- 1. In the event occupants are onsite during a major flood event, evacuation is the primary emergency response.
- 2. Sufficient road capacity is available for Site occupants to evacuate safely and evacuate without adversely impacting the evacuation outcomes of the larger subsector.



3. Each business within the Site will need to develop its own flood emergency response plan consistent with the overarching approach and principles documented in the Approved Reporting.

In respect of the Proposed Modification, we note there will be no changes to the approved site population or traffic generation. Hence:

- 1. The development as proposed to be modified does not materially alter required flood risk management on the Site.
- 2. The development as proposed to be modified remains consistent with the Approved Reporting.

If you require any further information, please do not hesitate to our offices.

#### For and on behalf of

#### Martens & Associates Pty Ltd

Dr Daniel Martens LLB(Hons1), BSc(Hons1), MEngSc, PhD, FIEAust, CPEng, NER, RPEQ, APEC Eng, IntPE(Aus) Director, Principal Engineer



Attachment 1: Proposed Site Layout



SCALE 1:2000	@A1			
	Ç ti		Enspire Solutions Pty Ltd Level 4, 153 Walker Street, North Sydney NSW 200	
The copyright of this drawing remains with Enspire without the permission of Enspire Solutions Pty Ltd	2	ABN: 71 624 801 690 Phone: 02 9922 6135	OPTION 6	



**Attachment 2: Approved Reporting** 

# MOLINO STEWART ENVIRONMENT & NATURAL HAZARDS

**Great River NSW Pty Ltd** 

**Nepean Business Park** 

Flood Emergency Response Plan

Old Castlereagh Road

Lugard Street



## Nepean Business Park

## FLOOD EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN

for

#### Great River NSW Pty Ltd

by

Molino Stewart Pty Ltd ACN 067 774 332

**MARCH 2022** 

www.molinostewart.com.au



## **DOCUMENT CONTROL**

Document Reference	1080 Nepean Business Park Flood Emergency Response Plan draft 6.2
Project	Nepean Business Park
Document Type	Flood Emergency Response Plan
Author	Steven Molino

## **REVISION HISTORY**

Date	Version	Name	Comments
28/11/2018	1.0	Steven Molino	Draft for client comment
14/12/2018	1.1	Steven Molino	Final
02/12/2020	2.1	Steven Molino	Minor changes to reflect revised layout
11/12/2020	2.2	Steven Molino	Incorporating client comments
14/12/2020	3.0	Steven Molino	Final
12/9/2020	4.0	Steven Molino	Additional information on evacuation modelling
4/11/2021	5.0	Steven Molino	Removal of evacuation modelling & update of flood levels
5/11/2021	5.1	Steven Molino	Final
6/12/2021	5.2	Steven Molino	Insertion of additional actions
1/3/2022	6.1	Steven Molino	Revised Draft
2/3/2022	6.2	Steven Molino	Revised Draft

## **DOCUMENT APPROVAL**

For Molino Stewart	Allohino
Name	Steven Molino
Position	Principal
For Great River NSW Pty Ltd	
Name	The Directors
Position	



## **CONTENTS**

1	INT	RODUCTION	1
	1.1	Background	1
	1.2	Site Details	1
		1.2.1 Locality	1
		1.2.2 Site Layout	1
		1.2.3 Topography and Drainage	1
2	FLO	OD RISKS	4
	2.1	Flood Generating Weather	4
	2.2	Flood Probabilities	4
	2.3	Flooding on the Site	5
		2.3.1 Nepean River	5
		2.3.2 Flood Levels	5
		2.3.3 Rate of Flood Rise	8
		2.3.4 Critical Levels	8
		2.3.5 Emergency Response Classification	8
3	PRE		10
	3.1	Emergency Response Philosophy	10
	3.2	NSW SES Flood Emergency Plan	10
	3.3	Flood REsilience Features	10
	3.4	Evacuation	11
	3.5	Roles and Responsibilities	11
		3.5.1 Agencies	11
		3.5.2 Community Association	11
		3.5.3 Chief Flood Warden	14
		3.5.4 Deputy Flood Wardens	14
		3.5.5 Businesses	14
		3.5.6 Visitors	15
	3.6	Forecasts and Warnings	15
		3.6.1 Bureau of Meteorology	15
		3.6.2 Nepean River Flood Categories	16
		3.6.3 Alerts and Responses	16
		3.6.4 Closure and Evacuation Procedures	16
4	MAN	AGEMENT ACTIONS	18
	4.1	Before a Flood	18
	4.2	When a Flood is Likely	19
		4.2.1 Alert Level 1 – Basic Preparedness	19
		4.2.2 Alert Level 2 – Prepare for potential precinct closure	19
		4.2.3 Alert Level 3 – Prepared for closure of premises	20
	4.3	During a Flood	20
		4.3.1 Alert Level 4 – Close and Evacuate to The Northern Road	20



	<ul><li>4.3.2 Alert Level 5 – Shelter on Site</li><li>4.4 After a Flood</li></ul>	21 21
5	REFERENCES	22

## **APPENDICES**

Appendix A – Flood Actions Checklist

Appendix B – Emergency Contacts List

## **LIST OF TABLES**

Table 1: Flood history in the Hawkesbury-Nepean valley	6	
Table 2: Penrith Flood Classes	16	

## **LIST OF FIGURES**

Figure 1:	Location of Nepean Business Park	2	
Figure 2:	Indicative Layout Plan for Nepean Business Park	3	
Figure 3:	1 in 100 chance per year flood levels	7	
Figure 4:	Time to rise between 17.0m and 24.0m AHD at the Penrith Gauge (source, WMA Water, 2019)	9	
Figure 5:	Vehicle evacuation routes for the Penrith North Subsector	12	
Figure 6:	Evacuation Routes	13	



## **1** INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 BACKGROUND

In January 2017, the NSW Government published the State Environmental Planning Policy (Penrith Lakes Scheme) Amendment 2017. Amongst other things, this zoned an area in the south of Penrith Lakes as Employment.

A development application was submitted for a proposed subdivision of this land into light industrial lots within a Community Title scheme.

Clause 33 of the SEPP states that:

(3) Development consent must not be granted for development on land zoned Employment, Residential or Tourism unless the consent authority is satisfied that the development will not adversely affect the safe and effective evacuation of the land and the surrounding area.

This Flood Emergency Response Plan (FERP) has been prepared by Molino Stewart Pty Ltd on behalf of Great River NSW Pty Ltd. The FERP, of which evacuation is only one aspect, sets out how the development will be prepared for flooding and what actions will be taken before, during and after a flood to manage the safety of those on site and to ensure this is done in a way which is compatible with the safe evacuation of the surrounding areas.

This FERP is an overarching plan for the whole precinct and provides a level of detail appropriate to planning and response at a precinct level. Each individual business and body corporate within the precinct will need to develop its own detailed FERP which is consistent with this precinct FERP.

## 1.2 SITE DETAILS

#### 1.2.1 Locality

The site is located in Penrith and is situated between Castlereagh Road to the east and

Nepean River to the west. The location is referred to as the Nepean Business Park and is shown in Figure 1.

The site covers approximately 49 hectares and is located within the NSW SES Penrith North (A) flood evacuation subsector within the Penrith North flood evacuation sector.

#### 1.2.2 Site Layout

Figure 2 shows the indicative layout plan for the proposed subdivision. It consists of a total of 93 lots ranging in size from 2,006m<sup>2</sup> to 20,236m<sup>2</sup> and a community title lot of 4 m<sup>2</sup>. It will have road access from Lugard Street in the east and Old Castlereagh Road in the north. It will have an internal ring road network.

#### 1.2.3 Topography and Drainage

The precinct is situated in one of a series of floodplains formed by the topography within the Hawkesbury-Nepean valley. After exiting the Fairlight Gorge, the Nepean River expands into a wider channel with a broad floodplain at Regentville and then flows past Penrith on the east bank of the River and Emu Plains on the west bank. A sharp bend in the river and a narrowing of the channel downstream of Emu Plains creates a constriction which is responsible for the flooding of the Penrith and Emu Plains floodplain.

The precinct is on the outside of this bend at a level of around 26m AHD compared to the normal river level which is at about 12m AHD. Development approval has already been granted to fill the site and that will increase the levels across the site to between 27m AHD and 30.5m AHD.

Boundary Creek enters the River from the east about 650m south of the precinct.





Figure 1: Location of Nepean Business Park





Figure 2: Indicative Layout Plan for Nepean Business Park



## 2 FLOOD RISKS

#### 2.1 FLOOD GENERATING WEATHER

Coastal areas of eastern Australia mostly receive flooding rains from so-called "east coast lows" that develop from time to time over the adjacent Tasman Sea. These are intense depressions off the coast and can produce thunderstorm activity associated with troughs.

Depressions can develop at any time of year, but are most likely when sea surface temperatures are high and the air is humid. Therefore, these events usually occur in the summer months and over the first half of the year.

Flooding can also be а winter-spring phenomenon. associated with unusuallv frequent or active extra-tropical depressions and fronts. However, some major events have occurred in the summer half-year as systems of tropical origin extend or move south. Flooding over inland areas is usually associated with southward-moving tropical systems, but in the cooler months, may occur when well-developed cloud bands extend across the interior from the oceans north and northwest of Australia.

All of the above weather can result in extended rainfall events which can cause flooding in the Nepean River or in Boundary Creek or both.

Flooding is more prevalent in a La Nina year when rainfall is significantly greater than the average rainfall.

Rainfall patterns are also dependant on weather patterns that occur throughout the year. Thunderstorms, which generally occur during the summer, can result in localised flooding, which could impact on the site.

Sydney has experienced severe thunderstorms in the past and because large expanses of the urban area are paved, much of the rainfall becomes flood run-off. This could result in localised flooding of Boundary Creek but is unlikely to be the cause of flooding in the Nepean River.

The Hawkesbury-Nepean Valley has been flooded in numerous large rainfall events,

although the March 2021 flood at Penrith was the first major flood in 30 years. In summary, there are many different weather events which could cause flooding at the site and this could happen at any time of year.

## 2.2 FLOOD PROBABILITIES

Flood probability can be expressed in more than one way. For example, a flood may be described as having a 1 in 100 year average recurrence interval (ARI). This means that over many thousands of years, a flood of this magnitude would occur <u>on average</u> once in 100 years. This does not mean that a flood of this size only occurs once every 100 years. It is possible to have floods of this size in consecutive years or even two in the same year. This happened in several locations in Queensland and Victoria in 2010 and 2011.

Another way of expressing flood probability is in terms of average exceedance probability (AEP). A 1 in 100 year ARI flood has roughly a 1 in 100 AEP. That is, each year and every year it has a 1 in 100 or 1% chance of being reached or exceeded. This is perhaps a more helpful way of thinking about flood probabilities.

This document will refer to flood probabilities in terms of chance per year. Each and every year a 1 in 100 chance per year flood has a 1 in 100 chance of being equalled or exceeded in that year.

A flood with a 1 in 100 chance per year has about a 1 in 2 chance of being reached or exceeded in the average person's lifetime, the same probability of tossing a coin and getting a head.

Bigger floods can and do occur. There were several floods with greater than a 1 in 100 chance per year experienced in Eastern Australia in early 2011. Some reached levels which have a 1 in 1,000 (0.1%) chance per year.

A flood with a 1 in 500 chance per year has about a 1 in 6 chance of being reached or exceeded in the average person's lifetime, the same as tossing a die and getting a 6.

The largest flood that can occur is referred to as the Probable Maximum Flood (PMF). Although it has a very low probability of occurring in any one year (about a 1 in 100,000 chance per year



at Penrith), events approaching a PMF have been recorded.

Flooding may occur at any time of year and at any time of day. There is no seasonality associated with flooding in Sydney and an event could occur during hours of operation for commercial premises on the site.

## 2.3 FLOODING ON THE SITE

#### 2.3.1 Nepean River

The largest flood on record in the Hawkesbury-Nepean valley occurred in 1867 when the river level reached 26.9 metres Australian Height Datum (AHD) at Victoria Bridge at Penrith. This flood is estimated to have between a 1 in 200 and a 1 in 500 chance of occurrence in any year. A PMF event would reach a level of approximately 32.8 metres AHD at Victoria Bridge. Table 1 outlines the history of recorded floods in the valley.

Sediment within the Fairlight Gorge in the Nepean River upstream of Penrith shows that prior to European settlement at least one flood reached or exceeded the level of a flood with about a 1 in 1,000 chance per year level of 27.6 metres AHD at Penrith. The most recent floods in the Hawkesbury-Nepean Valley have ranged been 1 in 5 and 1 in 50 chance of occurrence per year flood levels. The March 2021 flood peaked at 24.2m AHD.

To place these probabilities in context, some of the rivers in Victoria which flooded in 2011 experienced floods with a 1 in 200 chance per year level, while flooding in Lismore NSW in 2022 exceeded a 1 in 500 flood level. Some catchments in Queensland experienced floods in 2011 that have been reported to have had about a 1 in 1,000 chance of occurrence per year.

Flood waters from the Nepean River would initially back up Boundary Creek, eventually flooding Castlereagh Road and cutting the evacuation route south of the site. As the water level continues to rise it would break the river banks and enter the existing industrial estate immediately south of the site.

Further flood rises would result in the water to the south eventually flowing around the east of the precinct and cutting off its access via Lugard Street. At the same time the water backing up in Boundary Creek would have crossed Andrews Road, cutting off that evacuation route. Once water overtops Lugard Street it would flow through the industrial estate to the north and cut Old Castlereagh Road which is at a lower level.

Eventually the river overtops the banks adjacent to the site and begins flooding the site.

#### 2.3.2 Flood Levels

The Penrith gauge is just upstream of Victoria Bridge which itself is upstream of Penrith Weir. The precinct is 700m downstream of the weir. This means that the water level at the gauge is higher than the water level at the site.

Table 1 shows the full range of flood levels which could affect the site. The table shows three levels. The first is the peak gauge level at Victoria Bridge for the corresponding flood probability (note that historically the gauge was set arbitrarily with a zero reading at 14.139m AHD). The second level is the corresponding peak height above sea level (m AHD) for that gauge reading. The third level is the peak level at the precinct which would be reached for a flood of that probability.

The 1 in 100 chance per year flood would reach a peak of 25.8m AHD at the gauge and about 25.0m AHD adjacent to the precinct. The entire Precinct is at or above 27.0m AHD and so would not be directly affected by the flood. However, as shown in Figure 3 its evacuation route along Castlereagh Road would be cut by floodwaters backing up Boundary Creek. The road has a low point of 24.2m AHD at the creek crossing and would be covered by 0.6m of water at this location.



Chance per year	Peak gauge level at Victoria Bridge (m)	Peak flood level at Victoria Bridge, Penrith (m AHD) <sup>1</sup>	Peak flood level in river at the Precinct (m AHD) <sup>2</sup>	Year equalled or exceeded <sup>1</sup>
1 in 5	5.5	19.6	18.1	1986, 1962, 1955, 1950, 1943, 1934, 1922, 1895, 1894,
1 in 10	7.2	21.3	20.0	1988, 1975, 1949, 1916, 1898
1 in 20	9.2	23.3	22.2	2021, 1990, 1978, 1964, 1961, 1956, 1952, 1904
1 in 50	10.7	24.8	23.9	No record
1 in 100	11.7	25.8	25.0	No record
1 in 200	12.4	26.5	25.7	1867
1 in 500	13.0	27.1	26.5	No record
1 in 1,000	13.4	27.5	26.9	At least once before 1788
1 in 2,000	14.3	28.4	27.8	No record
1 in 5,000	15.3	29.4	29.0	No record
PMF	18.7	32.8	32.6	No record

1. Source – Hawkesbury Nepean Valley Regional Flood Study Final Report (WMAwater, 2019)

2. Source - flood model outputs provided by WMAWater.

A flood would have to exceed the 1 in 1,000 chance per year level of 26.9m AHD at the site and reach 27.0m AHD before the lowest parts of the site began to flood through water backing up into the internal drainage system and onto the lowest parts of roads.

All of the building floor levels will be at least 0.8m above the 1 in 2,000 chance per year level of 27.8m AHD and most would be above the 1

in 5,000 chance per year flood level of 29.0m AHD. The PMF peak level at the gauge is 32.8m AHD and estimated to be 32.6m AHD at the precinct. The whole precinct would therefore be flooded with the lowest parts of the site flooded to a depth of 5.6m but no ground floor levels being flooded to a depth of more than 5m.





Figure 3: 1 in 100 chance per year flood levels

Note that the above figure is sourced from the Nepean River Flood Study which has slightly higher 1 in 100 chance flood levels than the Hawkesbury Nepean Valley Regional Flood Study which has been relied upon in this FERP. The flood planning level for the site has been based on the Nepean River flood study levels as these are what have been adopted by Penrith City Council.



#### 2.3.3 Rate of Flood Rise

The rate at which this water rises will vary depending on how big the flood is and how quickly the rain is falling. A simulation of 20,000 different rainfall distributions and intensities show that 99.7% of floods take more than 10 hours to rise from 17.0m AHD to 24.0m AHD at the Penrith gauge, most take more than 24 hours (Figure 4). The NSW SES plans its vehicular evacuation of the Hawkesbury Nepean Valley around a minimum of about 10 hours at Penrith.

It should also be noted that the peak at the site will occur a little while after the flood has peaked at Victoria Bridge because of the time it takes the flood peak to travel downstream from the bridge.

#### 2.3.4 Critical Levels

There are several levels associated with the Nepean Business Park which are critical to the safety of people and the protection of property. They are:

- 24.2m AHD the lowest point along Castlereagh Road which is the lowest evacuation route for the site. All vehicles should leave the precinct before flooding reaches this level at Castlereagh Road. This has between a 1 in 20 and 1 in 50 chance of occurring per year.
- 25.4m AHD the lowest point on Lugard Street. When flooding exceeds this level adjacent to the precinct, exiting the precinct by car or on foot in this direction becomes dangerous. Water would flow north from this point and cut Old Castlereagh Road which is at a lower level. Andrews Road would also be cut by water backing up Boundary Creek. Once this level is reached safe evacuation routes from the site are effectively cut. This has less than a 1 in 100 chance of occurring per year.
- 27.0m AHD the lowest point within the precinct. At this level floodwaters enter the precinct directly from the river via the internal drainage system. This has about a 1 in 1,000 chance of occurring per year and would cut the internal roads

- 28.5m AHD water might start to enter the lowest lying buildings on site. This is has between a 1 in 2,000 and 1 in 5,000 chance of occurrence per year.
- 30.5m AHD the highest ground level within the precinct would flood. This has between a 1 in 5,000 and 1 in 100,000 chance of occurring per year

Floor levels in each of the buildings within the precinct vary and details of those should be provided in each respective flood response plan. All will have mezzanine floors or first floors which are above the reach of the PMF. An extreme flood could isolate the precinct for up to three days.

#### 2.3.5 Emergency Response Classification

The NSW SES has developed a classification system for areas within floodplains which determines whether those who fail to evacuate by car:

- have safe walking access to a flood free area
- would be isolated and/or overwhelmed by rising floodwaters

The Floodplain Risk Management Guideline: Flood Emergency Response Planning Classification of Communities (DECC, 2007) provides details of the classification system.

According to this classification system the precinct is a Low Flood Island (LFI). This is an area whose evacuation routes get cut before the area begins to flood but as floodwaters rise the whole area can be inundated.





## Figure 4: Time to rise between 17.0m and 24.0m AHD at the Penrith Gauge (source, WMA Water, 2019)



## 3 PRECINCT FERP

#### 3.1 EMERGENCY RESPONSE PHILOSOPHY

This FERP recognises that protection of life is of critical and primary importance.

The protection of all lives is the first priority, the comfort of workers and customers is second, the protection of property is third and the continuity of business operations, while of lesser priority, should not be overlooked.

While this FERP recognises the need for developers, owners and operations managers at premises within the precinct to consider financial implications, this will not be consciously done to the detriment of protecting life. It is incumbent on the developers, owners and operations managers to take all necessary measures outside of this FERP to manage the financial risks which flooding poses to their property and assets.

It should also be recognised that for this site there is an extremely low probability (less than 1 in 2,000 chance per year) of floodwaters entering buildings but a moderate probability (about 1 in 50 chance per year) of evacuation routes being cut and the site being isolated for days.

Therefore, the proposed response to a flood is the evacuation of the entire precinct without spending time protecting building contents from flood damage. This FERP for the Nepean Business Park must be consistent with the NSW SES Flood Emergency Plan for the Hawkesbury Nepean Valley and the proposed Penrith Lakes Early Warning System when it becomes available.

## 3.2 NSW SES FLOOD EMERGENCY PLAN

The NSW SES flood response strategy for the Hawkesbury Nepean Valley is set out in its Hawkesbury Nepean Flood Emergency Sub Plan (2020). It involves evacuating all residential, business and other premises that are at risk of flooding and directing evacuees towards Sydney Olympic Park. It is expected that most evacuees will find their own temporary accommodation with friends and relatives or at commercial accommodation outside of the floodplain. Those who cannot, will be assisted at Sydney Olympic Park.

To achieve orderly and timely evacuation, the NSW SES has divided the floodplain into sectors and subsectors with designated evacuation routes.

The Precinct is located within the Penrith North A subsector within the Penrith North Sector. This subsector includes the existing industrial estates to the east and south. This subsector would evacuate either south along Castlereagh Road before heading east along Coreen Avenue and other streets to The Northern Road or north on Castlereagh to Andrews Road and east The Northern Road. All evacuation traffic on The Northern Road heads south.

The subsector and evacuation routes are shown in Figure 5.

## 3.3 FLOOD RESILIENCE FEATURES

The development will include the following flood resilience features:

- all internal roads will be above the 1 in 1,000 chance per year flood level
- all building floors will be above the 1 in 2,000 chance per year flood level
- all buildings will be provided with a refuge above the PMF
- all buildings will be designed and constructed to remain structurally stable in PMF
- the Community Association will implement a vehicle monitoring system which is triggered during a flood alert which ensures vehicle numbers on site do not exceed 1,000 for the duration of that flood alert period
- early evacuation of site is based on a forecast flood level lower than that which would cut evacuation routes and would give at least an additional three hours for early evacuation. Earlier evacuation can be undertaken if



directed by NSW SES, or following the adoption of the Penrith Lakes Scheme Flood Response Guideline when it becomes available

• a Community Association is coordinating flood risk management

## 3.4 EVACUATION

Because the precinct is a low flood island it is imperative that it is evacuated before its evacuation routes are cut by flooding. The NSW SES nominated evacuation routes for the site is south on Castlereagh Road then east on Coreen Avenue or east on Old Castlereagh Road and east on Andrews Road. Andrews Road may remain open for a few hours longer than Castlereagh Road heading south. Andrews Road provides the shortest vehicular route to flood free land.

Andrews Road is recommended as the pedestrian evacuation route as it provides the shortest route from the precinct to flood free land and will remain open the longest. It is about a 2.5km from most locations in the precinct to the section of Andrews Road which is above the reach of the PMF. This would take about 30 minutes to walk at a brisk walking pace or about one hour at a strolling pace. Pedestrian evacuation is only recommended should vehicular evacuation not be possible.

The evacuation routes are shown in Figure 6.

## 3.5 ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

This FERP is an overarching FERP for the precinct which provides important information on flood levels, flood warnings, evacuation triggers, evacuation routes and actions to take before during and after a flood. The following sets out roles and responsibilities in relation to the maintenance and implementation of the FERP.

#### 3.5.1 Agencies

Within the flood emergency response context, the Bureau of Meteorology has responsibility for

forecasting rainfall and river levels and issuing flood warnings and forecasts.

The NSW SES is the lead agency for flood emergency response and will issue evacuation warnings and evacuation orders for the Hawkesbury Nepean Valley including the Penrith North A subsector of which Nepean Business Park is part. The NSW SES also carries out rescue and resupply for those who are stranded by floodwaters.

This FERP and the premises specific FERPs include actions to ensure that people within Nepean Business Park do not need to be rescued or resupplied and therefore are not reliant upon the NSW SES other than for it to issue evacuation warnings and orders for Penrith North A subsector.

#### 3.5.2 Community Association

The maintenance and implementation of this FERP is the responsibility of the Community Association.

The Community Association will appoint a Chief Flood Warden and sufficient Deputy Flood Wardens such that there is at least one Flood Warden on duty at all times.

The Community Association will provide sufficient financial resources to implement the FERP including by way of appointing contractors, or employing staff, appointing and train flood wardens, subscribing to flood and weather warning services and installing and maintaining equipment for the proper implementation of the FERP.

The responsibilities of the Community Association may change following the adoption of the Penrith Lakes Scheme Flood Response Guideline when it becomes available.





Figure 5: Vehicle evacuation routes for the Penrith North Subsector





Figure 6: Evacuation Routes



#### 3.5.3 Chief Flood Warden

The Chief Flood Warden will be either contracted to or employed by the Community Association but may have duties other than those of the Chief Flood Warden.

Chief Flood Warden will:

- Become familiar with the flood emergency response procedures set out in the FERP.
- Appoint sufficient Deputy Flood Wardens such that there will be a Chief or Deputy Flood Warden on duty (not necessarily on site) at all times
- Organise training for themselves and Deputy Flood Wardens in the maintenance of the flood warning system and the implementation of the flood emergency response procedures set out in this FERP
- Monitor weather forecasts and flood warnings daily
- Monitor Nepean River flood levels daily through the Bureau of Meteorology website
- Ensure any alerts from a flood and weather warning service are sent directly to the Chief Flood Warden and Deputy Flood Wardens
- Ensure the Chief Flood Warden, the Deputy Flood Wardens and the Flood Wardens know how to monitor and interpret weather warnings, rainfall forecasts and river levels
- Ensure the supply and maintenance all of the equipment necessary to implement the FERP
- Maintain the Emergency Contact List in Appendix B of this report
- Maintain the Business Contact List in Appendix C of this report
- Keep a soft and hard copy of the FERP readily accessible to the Flood Wardens and Deputy Flood Wardens at all times
- Implement this FERP in the event of a flood
- Direct Deputy Flood Wardens to implement various aspects of this FERP, as required

- Liaise with emergency service organisations and other external stakeholders as required
- Review the FERP every 5 years or following a flood which triggers evacuation
- Report annually, and as requested, to the Community Association on implementation and maintenance of the FERP
- Provide new business with a copy of this FERP and brief them on the flood evacuation procedures

The responsibilities of the Chief Flood Warden may change following the adoption of the Penrith Lakes Scheme Flood Response Guideline when it becomes available.

#### 3.5.4 Deputy Flood Wardens

The Deputy Flood Wardens will:

- Become familiar with the flood emergency response procedures set out in the FERP
- Follow the procedures set out in this FERP in the event of a flood
- Fulfil the role of the Chief Flood Warden in the absence of the Chief Flood Warden

#### 3.5.5 Businesses

Each of the businesses within the precinct will need to development its own FERP which is consistent with the overarching FERP but which deals with the specifics of that business.

Each of the premises in the Precinct will have a management structure, either individual business management or strata management. The specific roles and responsibilities within each business with regard to flood emergency response will need to be determined by each of those organisations.

Each of these premises will need to have someone who is responsible for maintaining and implementing their FERP such as monitoring river heights, ensuring basic measures are in place, training staff in flood response procedures, and issuing the necessary warnings when the river reaches the relevant trigger levels (see Section 3.6.3b).

For each individual building FERP this management structure must be identified,



documented and flood responsibilities allocated to personnel with appropriate seniority.

No reliance will be placed upon the New South Wales State Emergency Service or Penrith City Council's emergency resources in the development or implementation of individual FERPs other than relying on the SES to issue evacuation warnings and orders for Penrith North A subsector or any other responsibilities identified following the adoption of the Penrith Lakes Scheme Flood Response Guideline when it becomes available.

#### 3.5.6 Visitors

Visitors will follow the directions of Flood Wardens during a flood response operation.

#### 3.6 FORECASTS AND WARNINGS

#### 3.6.1 Bureau of Meteorology

Monitoring the weather forecasts and warnings will be an integral step in managing the flood risk of the Nepean Business Park. This will be critical to being able to evacuate the site before flooding cuts evacuation routes.

The Bureau of Meteorology (BoM) has forecast rainfall maps which can be used to estimate the amount of rain expected to fall over the next eight and four days, as well as the next 24 hours. This information is available at: www.bom.gov.au/jsp/watl/rainfall/pme.jsp.

NSW Weather Warnings are issued by the Bureau of Meteorology and can be found at the following link: www.bom.gov.au/nsw/warnings/.

The Bureau will also provide specific warnings for flooding in the Nepean River.

There are five potential warnings of relevance to the precinct which operators and managers will need to be alert to. They are:

- Severe Weather Warnings for the Sydney Metropolitan Area or Western Sydney – these are an alert to possible flooding in Boundary Creek
- Flash Flood Warnings for the Sydney Metropolitan Area or Western Sydney –

these are an alert to possible flooding in Boundary Creek.

- A Flood Watch for the Nepean River this is a heads up that flood producing rainfall is forecast within the catchment and flooding may eventuate
- A General Flood Warning for the Nepean River – this is a warning that minor, moderate or major flooding is expected on the Nepean River but it is too early to forecast specific levels
- A Quantified Flood Warning for the Nepean River at Penrith. This will include a forecast flood height and the time at which that height is expected to be reached. It may also include information on whether further flood rises are expected, whether that forecast is expected to peak or whether the river level is falling.

The Bureau of Meteorology also has rainfall gauges which show the amount of rainfall that has fallen in the previous 24 hour period and stream gauges which indicate water heights. These can be monitored at: www.bom.gov.au/australia/flood/.

There are several gauges in the region that are relevant to flood prediction and warning. The most relevant for the precinct is the Penrith gauge at Victoria Bridge and flood response actions for the Precinct should principally be determined by forecasts related to this gauge.

Gauge readings at Warragamba Dam, Camden Weir and Wallacia Weir will be indicative of flood behaviour upstream of Penrith and would be indicative of expected flood behaviour at Penrith some hours later. The data on the website is updated every hour or so.

The radar service on the BoM website also shows current rainfall location and intensities. The radar station to be used for the site would be the Sydney radar at:

http://www.bom.gov.au/products/IDR713.loop. shtml.

It also needs to be remembered that it is the <u>forecast</u> level at the Penrith gauge, not the observed level at the gauge, which needs to be used to trigger evacuation of the Precinct because it is the time it takes to reach the forecast level which is needed to effect evacuation.



#### 3.6.2 Nepean River Flood Categories

The BoM has set minor, moderate and major flood levels for the Nepean River at Penrith based on the impacts that flooding would have. These are set out in Table 2 as both the gauge levels (which is what BoM will report and forecast to) and the corresponding elevations at both the gauge and the site. The site flood levels are lower than the gauge flood levels because the site is downstream of Penrith Weir where the river level drops. It should also be remembered that the flood will peak at the site a little after it does at the gauge because the water takes time to travel from the gauge to the site.

Class	Penrith Gauge (m)	Penrith (m AHD)	Site* (m AHD)
Minor	3.9	18.0	16.5
Moderate	7.9	22.0	20.8
Major	10.4	24.5	23.6

Table 2: Penrith Flood Classes

\* estimate only

Provisions and Requirements for Flood Warning in New South Wales (NSW SES, 2019) states that for floods forecast to exceed 8.9m at the Penrith gauge, 6 hours warning will be provided by BoM and for those exceeding 11.3m AHD at Penrith, 8 hours warning will be provided. These warning times are based on the flood travel times from upstream rainfall and stream gauges to the Penrith gauge and are independent of the rate of rise of the flood.

#### 3.6.3 Alerts and Responses

Taking all of the preceding information into account, the following flood alerts, triggers and responses have been adopted for Nepean Business Park.

These may be superseded by those detailed in the Penrith Lakes Scheme Flood Response Guideline when it becomes available.

**Level 1 Alert: Basic preparedness** – Bureau of Meteorology issues either a:

- Severe Weather Warning for the Sydney Metropolitan Area or Western Sydney; or
- Flash Flood Warning for the Sydney Metropolitan Area or Western Sydney

Level 2 Alert: Prepare for potential closure of Precinct – Bureau of Meteorology issues either a:

- Flood Watch for the Nepean River; or
- Generalised Minor Flood Warning for the Nepean River:

# Level 3 Alert: Prepare for closure of premises

Bureau of Meteorology issues either a:

- Generalised Moderate Flood Warning for the Nepean River; or
- Forecast that the river level at Penrith will exceed 8m (22.1m AHD).

#### Level 4 Alert: Close premises and evacuate

Bureau of Meteorology issues either a:

- Generalised Major Flood Warning for the Nepean River
- Forecast that the river level at Penrith will exceed 8.9m (23.0m AHD).

#### OR

The NSW SES issues an evacuation order

#### Level 5 Alert: Shelter on Site

The River is flooding Lugard St

#### 3.6.4 Closure and Evacuation Procedures

Flooding can occur at any time of any day and it is unlikely that many, if any, of the premises within the precinct will be open 24hrs per day, seven days per week. In fact, most business premises are closed for 60-70% of the time.

It will therefore be important that FERPs for individual businesses acknowledge their operating hours and have different responses for when they are open compared to when they are closed.

It is also noted that premises may close between a Level 2 alert being issued and a Level 3 alert being issued. It may be prudent to



close the premises at the end of the day when a Level 2 alert is issued and not reopen until it is clear that major flooding is not likely to occur.

While this FERP documents that there is likely to be several hours between when an evacuation order is given and when the evacuation route is cut, delaying evacuation should be avoided. The evacuation planning is done on the assumption that everyone will start leaving when the evacuation order is given. If everyone delays their evacuation until the business would otherwise be closing for the day there may be insufficient time for everyone in the subsector to safely evacuate.

If individual business FERPs include procedures for protecting property from flood damage (e.g. moving plant, equipment and stock off site or into higher parts of the building) these should be triggered at a Level 2 alert and not at the Level 3 alert.

If people fail to evacuate from buildings by vehicle or on foot before the precinct is isolated, they should contact NSW SES then stay within the highest part of the building until and the "allclear" has been given. Sheltering on site should only be a last resort if evacuation has failed because the precinct could be isolated for up to three days, there is unlikely to be power, telecommunications or safe water supply and flood depths and velocities could cause buildings to fail.



## 4 MANAGEMENT ACTIONS

The management actions listed below are also provided in a Flood Actions Checklist in Appendix A. This is a generic list for the precinct and should be edited and supplemented to reflect the specific needs of each premises.

Each premises will be obliged to establish, implement and maintain a FERP consistent with this overarching FERP through a legally enforceable mechanism such as a DA condition or covenant on title.

The following actions may be superseded by those detailed in the Penrith Lakes Scheme Flood Response Guideline, when it becomes available.

## 4.1 BEFORE A FLOOD

#### Trigger for action: Always

- Each building will be provided with a refuge area within the building above the PMF level which is capable of safely accommodating site personnel for the duration that the building might be isolated by PMF floodwaters. This is to be a refuge of last resort in the event of evacuation failure.
- The Community Association will appoint a Chief Flood Warden and sufficient Deputy Flood Wardens such that there is at least one Flood Warden on duty at all times
- The Community Association will provide sufficient financial resources to employ staff, appoint and train flood wardens, subscribe to flood and weather warning services and install and maintain equipment for the proper implementation of the FERP.
- The Chief Flood Warden will be familiar with the flood emergency response procedures set out in the FERP.
- The Chief Flood Warden will appoint sufficient Deputy Flood Wardens such that there will be a Chief or Deputy Flood Warden on duty (not necessarily on site) at all times

- The Chief Flood Warden will organise training for themselves and Deputy Flood Wardens in the maintenance of the flood warning system and the implementation of the flood emergency response procedures set out in this FERP
- The Chief Flood Warden or delegate will monitor weather forecasts and flood warnings daily
- The Chief Flood Warden or delegate will monitor Nepean River flood levels daily through the Bureau of Meteorology website
- The Chief Flood Warden will ensure any alerts from a flood and weather warning service are sent directly to the Chief Flood Warden and Deputy Flood Wardens
- The Chief Flood Warden will ensure the Chief Flood Warden, the Deputy Flood Wardens and the Flood Wardens know how to monitor and interpret weather warnings, rainfall forecasts and river levels
- The Chief Flood Warden will ensure the supply and maintenance all of the equipment necessary to implement the FERP
- The Chief Flood Warden will maintain the Emergency Contact List in Appendix B of this report
- The Chief Flood Warden will maintain the Business Contact List in Appendix C of this report
- The Chief Flood Warden will keep a soft and hard copy of the FERP readily accessible to the Flood Wardens and Deputy Flood Wardens at all times
- Each business will develop and maintain detailed emergency procedures consistent with this precinct FERP and that takes into account any additional risks associated with the particular development.
- Each business owner will ensure all management, staff, and temporary employees likely to be in the Precinct at any time will be made aware of the possibility of flooding and the emergency procedures to be followed if a flood were to occur. This will be done by including flood procedures during staff inductions.
- The business procedures will also include clear responsibilities for management and staff in the event of a flood, and back up resources should key personnel not be present.



- The business management will maintain an emergency contacts list to advise the various emergency services and essential staff of the actions in train on the site. A suggested format for these details and other necessary contact details is provided in Appendix B – this will need to be completed by each business.
- A staff contact list will be created for each business and kept up-to-date in electronic AND hard copy format in the business offices on site.
- Management will appoint a staff member and alternates as flood wardens to monitor weather forecasts, current and predicted rainfall, flood warnings and the local gauge readings to ensure that any design features or equipment required to implement the FERP are in working order. They may delegate some duties to other staff and must have provision for suitable back-ups.
- Each business will subscribe to a flood alert service such as EWN or the equivalent to receive flood warnings direct to management and flood wardens.
- The Chief Flood Warden will review this FERP for currency and appropriateness every five years or when there are changes to the NSW SES Hawkesbury Nepean Flood Sub Plan or the Penrith Lakes Early Warning System
- Each business will review its FERP when this FERP is updated.

#### 4.2 WHEN A FLOOD IS LIKELY

#### 4.2.1 Alert Level 1 – Basic Preparedness

*Trigger for action:* Bureau of Meteorology issues severe weather warnings or flash flooding warnings for the Sydney Metropolitan area or Western Sydney

The Chief Flood Warden will:

- Ensure all emergency contact details within the FERP are up to date
- Ensure there are Deputy Flood Wardens rostered for duty for the foreseeable duration of the potential flood event
- Remind Deputy Flood Wardens of the procedures in this FERP

 Monitor weather and flood warnings every 8 hours

The manager or delegate responsible at each business will ensure that:

- there is a hard copy of the FERP on site
- all emergency contact details within the FERP are up to date
- all staff have been trained in the flood emergency procedures
- contact details are available for:
  - all staff who will be rostered on for the next week; and
  - all clients or customers that have appointments for the next week.
  - All deliveries which are expected in the next week
- forecasts, warnings and rainfall/stream gauges and local conditions on the site are monitored at least every four hours and advise management accordingly.

#### 4.2.2 Alert Level 2 – Prepare for potential precinct closure

# *Trigger for action:* Bureau of Meteorology issues either a Flood Watch for the Nepean River

#### OR

# a Minor flood warning for the Nepean River at Penrith

The Duty Flood Warden will:

- Implement the vehicle monitoring system
- Ensure that vehicle numbers on site are reduced to less than 1,000 vehicles over the next four hours, with no further vehicle entry unless they are collecting people from site or leaving immediately.
- Remind business managers that they should have implemented their business specific FERP
- Monitor forecasts, warnings and rainfall/stream gauges and local conditions on the site at least every two hours and advise management accordingly.



Each business manager or delegate responsible will ensure that:

- there is a hard copy of the FERP on site
- all emergency contact details within the FERP are up to date
- all staff have been trained in the flood emergency procedures
- contact details are available for:
  - all staff who will be rostered on for the next week; and
  - all clients or customers that have appointments for the next week.
  - All deliveries which are expected in the next week
- forecasts, warnings and rainfall/stream gauges and local conditions on the site are monitored at least every two hours and advise management accordingly.

# 4.2.3 *Alert Level 3* – Prepared for closure of premises

Trigger for action: Bureau of Meteorology issues either a Moderate Flood Warning for the Nepean River

#### OR

# forecasts that the river level at Penrith will exceed 8m (22.1m AHD)

Each business manager or delegate responsible will ensure that:

- staff that are rostered on for that week are notified of the possibility of flooding and reminded of actions and procedures to follow should evacuation be required.
- all organisations/patrons booked to use any facility within the Precinct are notified of the possibility of its closure should floodwaters continue to rise.
- consideration is given to cancelling appointments and deliveries and closing the business until flood threat has passed
- any movable objects owned by each development which are external to the building are either secured to prevent them from floating away or are brought inside the building. This includes objects such as

garbage bins, storage containers or external furniture.

 forecasts, warnings and rainfall/stream gauges and local conditions on the site are monitored at least every two hours and advise management accordingly.

## 4.3 DURING A FLOOD

#### 4.3.1 Alert Level 4 – Close and Evacuate to The Northern Road

*Trigger for action: When the Bureau of Meteorology issues either a Major Flood Warning for the Nepean River* 

OR

forecasts that the river level at Penrith will exceed 8.9m (23.0m AHD)

#### OR

#### The NSW SES issues an evacuation order

Each business manager or delegate responsible will:

- Advise staff that are not on the premises that the business is expected to be isolated by flooding and is closing and for them not to come to work until further notice.
- cancel all appointments and deliveries until the flood threat has passed
- direct staff on site to leave and proceed to their homes via The Northern Road.
- direct staff on site who are not able to travel to their homes to travel to the Sydney Olympic Precinct at Homebush.
- direct anyone present who does not have private transport to travel with those who do have private transport.
- sweep the premises following evacuation to ensure that all have left the site, all floatable infrastructure is safely and securely stored and power, water and other utilities are turned off as necessary.



#### 4.3.2 Alert Level 5 – Shelter on Site

# Trigger for action: When floodwaters are over Lugard Street

- shelter in the building until flooding has passed
- contact NSW SES on 132 500 (if possible) and advise of your situation

## 4.4 AFTER A FLOOD

## Trigger for action: When emergency services give the all clear to return

- No owners, tenants or staff will be allowed to return to the site while flooding is still occurring or has recently occurred.
- Owners, tenants and staff can return to the site only after the all clear has been given by emergency services or Council when the flood emergency has passed.
- Where necessary, the Community Association will organise for the site to be appropriately cleaned and utilities checked by professionals before any re-use of the site if floodwaters have entered the site.
- Before site clean up and repair, a hazard assessment will be undertaken, safe work methods statements prepared and personal protective equipment supplied consistent with the known hazards which can be associated with floods:
  - Slips, trips and falls;
  - Sharp debris;
  - Venomous animals; and
  - Contaminated water and sediments.
- When evacuation has been triggered, the Community Association will organise a debrief with business owners and operators in the precinct and may invite emergency services and/or Council staff to participate. The flood event and response procedures, including the use of the FERP and individual FERPs, will be reviewed to identify changes required or considered beneficial to the operation of the plan.
- Changes may be made to the FERPs and the requirements for future emergency evacuation should the review identify any improvements which may be made.



## **5 REFERENCES**

Advisian, 2018 Nepean River Flood Study – Final Prepared for Penrith City Council

DECC, 2007 Guideline Flood Emergency Response Classification of Communities Version 1.01 25-10-2007

NSWSES, 2019, Provisions and Requirements for Flood Warning in New South Wales Supplementary Document to the State Flood Plan v2.0 November, 2019

NSWSES, 2020 Hawkesbury Nepean Flood Plan

WMAWater, 2019 *Hawkesbury-Nepean Valley Regional Flood Study – Final Report* Prepared for Infrastructure NSW



# **APPENDIX A – FLOOD ACTIONS CHECKLIST**


Stage	Trigger for action	Action	Who is responsible	What is needed
Before A Flood				
	Always	Each building will be provided with a refuge area within the building above the PMF level which is capable of safely accommodating site personnel for the duration that the building might be isolated by PMF floodwaters. This is to be a refuge of last resort in the event of evacuation failure.		
		The Community Association will appoint a Chief Flood Warden and sufficient Deputy Flood Wardens such that there is at least one Flood Warden on duty at all times.		
		The Community Association will provide sufficient financial resources to employ staff, appoint and train flood wardens, subscribe to flood and weather warning services and install and maintain equipment for the proper implementation of the FERP.	Community Association	FERP, financial resources
		The Chief Flood Warden will be familiar with the flood emergency response procedures set out in the FERP.	Chief Flood Warden	FERP
		The Chief Flood Warden will appoint sufficient Deputy Flood Wardens such that there will be a Chief or Deputy Flood Warden on duty (not necessarily on site) at all times.	Chief Flood Warden	
		The Chief Flood Warden will organise training for themselves and Deputy Flood Wardens in the maintenance of the flood warning system and the implementation of the flood emergency response procedures set out in this FERP.		FERP
		The Chief Flood Warden or delegate will monitor weather forecasts and flood warnings daily.	Chief Flood Warden	Smartphone/tablet/computer with internet access, subscription to a weather warning service
		The Chief Flood Warden or delegate will monitor Nepean River flood levels daily through the Bureau of Meteorology website.	Chief Flood Warden	Smartphone/tablet/computer with internet access



Stage	Trigger for action	Action	Who is responsible	What is needed
		The Chief Flood Warden will ensure any alerts from a flood and weather warning service are sent directly to the Chief Flood Warden and Deputy Flood Wardens.	Chief Flood Warden	Subscription to a weather warning service
		The Chief Flood Warden will ensure the Chief Flood Warden, the Deputy Flood Wardens and the Flood Wardens know how to monitor and interpret weather warnings, rainfall forecasts and river levels.	Chief Flood Warden	Smartphone/tablet/computer with internet access, subscription to a weather warning service
		The Chief Flood Warden will ensure the supply and maintenance all the equipment necessary to implement the FERP.	Chief Flood Warden	FERP
		The Chief Flood Warden will maintain the Emergency Contact List in Appendix B of this report.	Chief Flood Warden	Emergency Contact List (Appendix B of FERP)
		The Chief Flood Warden will maintain the Business Contact List in Appendix C of this report.	Chief Flood Warden	Business Contact List (Appendix C of FERP)
		The Chief Flood Warden will keep a soft and hard copy of the FERP readily accessible to the Flood Wardens and Deputy Flood Wardens at all times.	Chief Flood Warden	FERP
		Each business will develop and maintain detailed emergency procedures consistent with this precinct FERP and that takes into account any additional risks associated with the particular development.	Business Manager	FERP
	Each business owner will ensure all management, staff, and temporary employees likely to be in the Precinct at any time will be made aware of the possibility of flooding and the emergency procedures to be followed if a flood were to occur. This will be done by including flood procedures during staff inductions.	Business Owner	Up-to-date induction procedures with flooding information	
		The business procedures will also include clear responsibilities for management and staff in the event of a flood, and back up resources should key personnel not be present.	Business Manager	FERP



Stage	Trigger for action	Action	Who is responsible	What is needed
		The business management will maintain an emergency contacts list to advise the various emergency services and essential staff of the actions in train on the site. A suggested format for these details and other necessary contact details is provided in Appendix B – this will need to be completed by each business.	Business Manager	Hard and soft copies of contact details
		A staff contact list will be created for each business and kept up- to-date in electronic AND hard copy format in the business offices on site.	Business Manager	Hard and soft copies of staff contact details
		Management will appoint a staff member and alternates as flood wardens to monitor weather forecasts, current and predicted rainfall, flood warnings and the local gauge readings to ensure that any design features or equipment required to implement the FERP are in working order. They may delegate some duties to other staff and must have provision for suitable back-ups.	& appointed Flood	Staff members designated as Flood Wardens
		Each business will subscribe to a flood alert service such as EWN or the equivalent to receive flood warnings direct to management and flood wardens.	Business Manager	Warning service subscription
		The Chief Flood Warden will review this FERP for currency and appropriateness every five years or when there are changes to the NSW SES Hawkesbury Nepean Flood Sub Plan or the Penrith Lakes Early Warning System.	Chief Flood Warden	FERP, NSW SES Hawkesbury Nepean Flood Sub Plan, Penrith Lakes Scheme Flood Response Guideline
		Each business will review its FERP when this FERP is updated.	Business Manager	FERP



Stage	Trigger for action	Action	Who is responsible W		What is needed	
When a Flood is Li	ikely					
		Ensure all emergency contact details within the FERP are up to date	Chief Warde		FERP	(Appendix B)
		Ensure there are Deputy Flood Wardens rostered for duty for the foreseeable duration of the potential flood event	Chief Warde			
		Remind Deputy Flood Wardens of the procedures in this FERP	Chief Warde		FERP	
		Monitor weather and flood warnings every <b>eight</b> hours	Chief Warde		with in subscr	phone/tablet/computer ternet access, iption to a weather g service
	L <b>evel 1 Alert:</b> BOM issues severe	Ensure there is a hard copy of the FERP on site	Busin	ess Manager	FERP	
v f	weather warnings or lash flood warnings	Ensure all emergency contact details within the FERP are up to date	Busin	ess Manager	FERP	(Appendix B)
ח	or Sydney Metropolitan Area or Western Sydney	Ensure all staff have been trained in the flood emergency procedures	Busin	ess Manager	respor	f staff and their sibilities and training se staff members
		<ul> <li>Check that contact details are available for:</li> <li>all staff who will be rostered on for the next week; and</li> <li>all clients or customers that have appointments for the next week.</li> <li>All deliveries which are expected in the next week</li> </ul>	Busine	ess Manager	Contac	ct details
		Ensure that forecasts, warnings and rainfall/stream gauges and local conditions on the site are monitored at least every <b>four</b> hours and advise management accordingly.	Busin	ess Manager		phone/tablet/computer ternet access,



				subscription to a weather warning service
		Implement the vehicle monitoring system	Duty Flood Warden	Vehicle monitoring system
		Ensure that vehicle numbers on site are reduced to less than 1,000 vehicles over the next two hours, with no further vehicle entry unless they are collecting people from site or leaving immediately.	Duty Flood Warden	Vehicle monitoring system
		Remind business managers that they should have implemented their business specific FERP	Duty Flood Warden	FERP
	Level 2 Alert: BOM issues a Flood	Monitor forecasts, warnings and rainfall/stream gauges and local conditions on the site at least every <b>two</b> hours and advise management accordingly.	Duty Flood Warden	Smartphone/tablet/computer with internet access, subscription to a weather warning service
	Watch for the Nepean River	Ensure there is a hard copy of the FERP on site	Business Manager	FERP
	OR BOM issues a minor flood warning for Nepean River at	Ensure all emergency contact details within the FERP are up to date	Business Manager	FERP (Appendix B)
		Ensure all staff have been trained in the flood emergency procedures	Business Manager	A list of staff and their responsibilities and training for those staff members
	Penrith	Check that contact details are available for:		
		<ul> <li>all staff who will be rostered on for the next week; and</li> </ul>		
		<ul> <li>all clients or customers that have appointments for the next week.</li> </ul>	Business Manager	Contact details
		<ul> <li>All deliveries which are expected in the next week</li> </ul>		
		Ensure that forecasts, warnings and rainfall/stream gauges and local conditions on the site are monitored at least every <b>two</b> hours and advise management accordingly.	Business Manager	Smartphone/tablet/computer with internet access, subscription to a weather warning service



		Ensure that staff that are rostered on for that week are notified of the possibility of flooding and reminded of actions and procedures to follow should evacuation be required.	Business Manager or appointed Flood Wardens	Contact details
	Level 3 Alert: BoM issues a moderate flood	Ensure all organisations/patrons booked to use any facility within the Precinct are notified of the possibility of its closure should floodwaters continue to rise.	Business Manager or appointed Flood Wardens	Contact details
	warning for Nepean River OR BoM forecasts the river gauge level at Penrith to exceed 8m (22.1m AHD)	Ensure consideration is given to cancelling appointments and deliveries and closing the business until flood threat has passed	Business Manager or appointed Flood Wardens	Contact details
		Ensure any movable objects owned by each development which are external to the building are either secured to prevent them from floating away or are brought inside the building. This includes objects such as garbage bins, storage containers or external furniture.	appointed Flood	Means of securing floating objects
	Ensure forecasts, warnings and rainfall/stream gauges and local conditions on the site are monitored at least every <b>two</b> hours and advise management accordingly.	Business Manager or appointed Flood Wardens	Smartphone/tablet/computer with internet access, subscription to a weather warning service	



During a Flood			
Penrith gauge level is expected to	Advise staff that are not on the premises that the business is expected to be isolated by flooding and is closing and for them not to come to work until further notice.		Contact details
exceed 8.9m (23.0m AHD) OR	Cancel all appointments and deliveries until the flood threat has passed.	Business Manager or appointed Flood Wardens	Contact details
BoM issues a major flood warning for Nepean River is issued	Direct staff on site to leave and proceed to their homes via The Northern Road.	Business Manager or appointed Flood Wardens	Motor vehicles
OR NSW SES issues an evacuation	Direct staff on site who are not able to travel to their homes to travel to the Sydney Olympic Precinct at Homebush.	Business Manager or appointed Flood Wardens	Motor vehicles
order	Direct anyone present who does not have private transport to travel with those who do have private transport.	Business Manager or appointed Flood Wardens	Motor vehicles
	Sweep the premises following evacuation to ensure that all have left the site, all floatable infrastructure is safely and securely stored and power, water and other utilities are turned off as necessary.		



Alert Level 5: When floodwaters are over Lugard Street		Business Manager or appointed Flood Wardens	
	Contact NSW SES on 132 500 (if possible) and advise of your situation	Business Manager or appointed Flood Wardens	Telephone



After a Flood			
	No owners, tenants or staff will be allowed to return to the site while flooding is still occurring or has recently occurred.	Business Manager or Strata Manager	N/A
	Owners, tenants and staff can return to the site only after the all clear has been given by emergency services or Council when the flood emergency has passed.	Business Manager or Strata Manager	Contact details for owners, tenants and staff
	Where necessary, the Community Association will organise for the site to be appropriately cleaned and utilities checked by professionals before any re-use of the site if floodwaters have entered the site.	Community Association	Utilities contacts
When emergency services give the all clear to return	<ul> <li>Before site clean up and repair, a hazard assessment will be undertaken, safe work methods statements prepared and personal protective equipment supplied consistent with the known hazards which can be associated with floods:</li> <li>Slips, trips and falls</li> <li>Sharp debris</li> <li>Venomous animals</li> <li>Contaminated water and sediments</li> </ul>	Community Association	WHS representative to perform assessment with correct SWMS and PPE.
	When evacuation has been triggered, the Community Association will organise a de-brief with business owners and operators in the precinct and may invite emergency services and/or Council staff to participate. The flood event and response procedures, including the use of the FERP and individual FERPs, will be reviewed to identify changes required or considered beneficial to the operation of the plan.	Community Association	FERP and information on what occurred



	Changes may be made to the FERPs and the requirements for future emergency evacuation should the review identify any improvements which may be made.	Community Association	FERP
--	--	--------------------------	------



## **APPENDIX B – EMERGENCY CONTACTS LIST**

Name	Organisation	Role	Contact
	Body Corporate	Site Manager	???
	Business subject of FERP	General Manager	???
	Emergency Services	Fire/ambulance/police	000
	State Emergency Service	SES Local Controller	132 500
	Bureau of Meteorology	NSW Flood Warning Centre	(02) 9296 1511
	Nepean Hospital	Emergency Department	(02) 4734 2000
	Endeavour Energy	Electricity Supply	131 003
	Sydney Water	Water & Sewerage	13 20 90
		Gas Supply	
		Telecommunications	
		Waste Disposal	

# MOLINO STEWART ENVIRONMENT & NATURAL HAZARDS

Lugard Street

•••••



# Nepean Business Park

Andrews Road

Flood Evacuation Report Draft



#### **Nepean Business Park**

Flood Evacuation Report

Client: Great River NSW Pty Ltd

Prepared by: Molino Stewart Pty Ltd Suite 3, Level 1, 20 Wentworth Street, Parramatta NSW 2150, Australia PO Box 614, Parramatta CBD BC, Parramatta NSW 2124 T +61 2 9354 0300 www.molinostewart.com.au ABN 95 571 253 092 ACN 067 774 332

November 2021

#### © Molino Stewart Pty Ltd. All rights reserved

Molino Stewart has prepared this document for the sole use of the Client and for a specific purpose, each as expressly stated in the document. No other party should rely on this document without the prior written consent of Molino Stewart. Molino Stewart undertakes no duty, nor accepts any responsibility, to any third party who may rely upon or use this document. This document has been prepared based on the Client's description of its requirements and Molino Stewart's experience, having regard to assumptions that Molino Stewart can reasonably be expected to make in accordance with sound professional principles. Molino Stewart may also have relied upon information provided by the Client and other third parties to prepare this document, some of which may not have been verified. Subject to the above conditions, this document may be transmitted, reproduced or disseminated only in its entirety.





# **Document Control**

Document Reference	1080 Nepean Business Park - Flood Evacuation Report Final V1.1.Docx
Project	Nepean Business Park
Document Type	Flood Evacuation Report
Author	Steven Molino

### **Revision History**

Date	Version	Name	Comments
04/11/2021	1.0	Steven Molino	Draft for client review
05/11/2021	1.1	Steven Molino	Final

### **Document Approval**

For Molino Stewart	
Name	Steven Molino
Position	Principal
For Great River NSW Pty Ltd Name	The Directors
Position	





# Contents

1080 Nepean Business Park - Flood Evacuation Report.docx | 25/11/2021

1	INTR	ODUCTION	6
	1.1	Background	6
	1.2	This Report	6
2	FLO	ODING CONTEXT	7
	2.1	The Hawkesbury Nepean River	7
		2.1.1 Flooding in the Hawkesbury-Nepean valley	7
	2.2	Flooding at the Site	9
		2.2.1 Locality	9
		2.2.2 Topography and Drainage	9
		2.2.3 Flood Models	9
		2.2.1 Nepean River	10
		2.2.2 Flood Levels	13
		2.2.3 Critical Levels	15
		2.2.1 Rate of Flood Rise	15
3	EME	RGENCY MANAGEMENT CONTEXT	16
	3.1	Hawkesbury Nepean Flood Emergency Sub Plan	16
		Sectors & Routes Relevant to this Investigation	16
	3.3	Evacuation onto the M4	19
	3.4	Evacuation onto the Great Western Highway	19
		The Northern Road	21
		Penrith Sector	21
	3.7	Penrith North Sector	21
4	EVA	CUATION MODELLING	23
	4.1	Timeline Evacuation Model	23
		4.1.1 Estimating the Time Required	23
		4.1.1 Estimating Time Available	24
		4.1.2 Other Considerations	25
	4.2	Evacuation Modelling for Nepean Business Park	26
		4.2.1 Evacuation Routes	26
		4.2.2 Vehicle Numbers	33
		4.2.3 Evacuation Triggers	35
		4.2.4 Evacuation Timing and Capacities	39
5		CUATION MODELLING RESULTS	40
		Penrith North A Subsector Evacuation	40
	5.2	Penrith North Sector Evacuation	41
		5.2.1 Coreen Avenue	41
		5.2.2 The Northern Road	42



<ul> <li>5.3 Penrith Floodplain Evacuation</li> <li>5.4 Hawkesbury Nepean Valley Evacuation</li> <li>5.5 Sensitivity Testing</li> </ul>	46 47 50
6   SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	56
7   REFERENCES	58
List of Tables	
Table 1: Flood history in the Hawkesbury-Nepean valley Table 2: Traffic Safety Factors	13 24
Table 3: Evacuation routes used in LSM for subsectors evacuating to the Northern Road	32
Table 4: Taskforce Estimates of Evacuating Vehicles in Sectors used in Evacuation Modelling	33
Table 5: Estimates of Evacuating Vehicles in Penrith North Subsectors used in Evacuation Modelling	35
Table 6: Penrith Flood Classes	35
Table 7: Relative Timings for Evacuation from Sectors to the North	36
Table 8: Jordan Springs East and Werrington Evacuation Timings Vehicle Evacuation Distribution	37
Table 9: Low points triggering evacuation of subsectors within the Penrith North Sector	38
Table 10: Staged trigger levels for evacuation of Penrith North B subsector within the Penrith North Sector	38
Table 11: Low points triggering evacuation of subsectors within the Penrith Sector	39
Table 12: Staged trigger levels for evacuation of Penrith, Jamisontown East and Jamisontown South subsectors within the Penrith Sector	39
Table 13: Application of TEM to Penrith North A Subsector	40
Table 16: Probability of vehicles having to evacuate	53

## List of Figures

Figure 1: Hawkesbury-Nepean Floodplains	8
Figure 2: Location of Nepean Business Park	11
Figure 3: Indicative Layout Plan for Nepean Business Park	12
Figure 4: 1 in 100 chance per year flood levels	14
Figure 5: Hawkesbury Nepean Evacuation Sectors and Subsectors (NSW SES, 2020)	17
Figure 6: Hawkesbury Nepean Evacuation Routes (NSW SES, 2020)	18
Figure 7: Evacuation Routes to Great Western Highway and M4	20
Figure 8: NSW SES Timeline Evacuation Model Concept	25
Figure 9: Alternative Evacuation Routing for Richmond, Cranebrook and Waterside	28
Figure 10: Modelled traffic arrangements at the intersection of The Northern Road and Great Western Highway	30
Figure 11: Routes Leading to and from The Northern Road	31



Figure 12: Evacuation Timing of Subsectors Using Coreen Avenue	43
Figure 13: Route from Coreen Avenue to The Northern Road	44
Figure 14: Evacuation Timing of Penrith North Subsectors	45
Figure 15: Evacuation Routes of Penrith Subsectors	48
Figure 16: Evacuation Timing of Penrith North and Penrith Subsectors	49
Figure 17: Comparison of 72 hour design PMF rate of rise with other events	51

# 1 | Introduction

### 1.1 Background

In 1979 the NSW Government reached an agreement with a consortium of resource companies which gave them permission to extract sand and gravel from the alluvial floodplain of the Nepean River, approximately 3 km north of the Penrith City Centre. That consortium is the Penrith Lakes Development Corporation (PLDC).

The requirements for closure of the extraction operations include the creation of recreational lakes, regional parkland and some urban development. Work on the recreational lakes was partially completed with the creation of the Regatta Lake which was used for rowing, canoeing and kayaking events at the 2000 Olympics and is used for recreation and competition today. Resource extraction was completed in 2015 and final landform shaping across the whole of the Penrith Lakes Scheme will be completed by early 2020.

In January 2017, the NSW Government published the State Environmental Planning Policy (Penrith Lakes Scheme) Amendment 2017. Amongst other things, this zoned an area in the south of Penrith Lakes as Employment.

A development application has been submitted for a proposed subdivision of this land into light industrial lots.

Clause 33 of the SEPP states that:

(3) Development consent must not be granted for development on land zoned Employment, Residential or Tourism unless the consent authority is satisfied that the development will not adversely affect the safe and effective evacuation of the land and the surrounding area.

### 1.2 This Report

This Flood Evacuation Report has been prepared by Molino Stewart Pty Ltd on behalf of Great River NSW Pty Ltd (the proponent) to assess the capacity of the proposed development to be evacuated in the event of a significant flood on the Hawkesbury Nepean River and whether that evacuation can be effected without adverse impacts on the safe and effective evacuation of surrounding areas.

It provides an overview of flooding in the Hawkesbury Nepean Valley and the flood evacuation plans of NSW State Emergency Service (NSW SES). It explains how the subject site is affected by flooding and where it fits within the NSW SES evacuation plans. It presents the NSW SES method for estimating evacuation capacity of urban areas and applies that method to the proposed development and surrounding areas. The report provides significant detail about the assumptions and inputs which have been used to undertake the evacuation modelling and explains the outcomes of that modeling.

Nepean Business Park Flood Evacuation Report



# 2 Flooding Context

#### The Hawkesbury Nepean River 2.1

The Hawkesbury-Nepean catchment covers approximately 21,000 square kilometres. The catchment is located on the eastern side of the Great Dividing Range and almost completely surrounds the Sydney Basin. The Hawkesbury-Nepean catchment extends from almost 50 kilometres south of Goulburn, almost 10 kilometres to the west of Lithgow and as far as approximately 30 kilometres north of Putty.

The Nepean River's headwaters are at the top of the escarpment west of Wollongong and the river flows in a generally northerly direction past Camden and Wallacia before being joined by the Warragamba River which enters from the west just downstream of Wallacia. It continues north past Penrith and Emu Plains before being joined by the Grose River which enters from the west at Yarramundi. At this point the river changes names and becomes the Hawkesbury River. It turns more north-easterly as it flows past North Richmond, Richmond, Windsor, Pitt Town and Wilberforce. South Creek enters from the south just downstream of Windsor and then the Colo River enters from the west further downstream. The McDonald River enters from the north just upstream of Wisemans Ferry at which point the river turns south east and flows into Broken Bay at Brooklyn.

#### 2.1.1 Flooding in the Hawkesbury-Nepean valley

The Hawkesbury-Nepean floodplain is actually a series of floodplains formed by the topography within the Valley. Most of these can be seen in Figure 1.

The first of these floodplains is around Camden but that is not relevant to this particular investigation. The second of these floodplains is created where the Nepean River leaves a narrow and steep gorge at Bents Basin before entering the Fairlight Gorge, another steep and narrow gorge, downstream of Wallacia. The Fairlight Gorge constricts flow which results in the flooding of a narrow floodplain between the two gorges. This is mostly agricultural land but includes the small town of Wallacia. It too has limited relevance to this investigation.

After exiting the Nepean Gorge the river expands into a wider channel with a broad floodplain at Regentville and then flows past Penrith on the east bank of the River and Emu Plains on the west bank. A sharp bend in the river and a narrowing of the channel downstream of Emu Plains creates another constriction which is responsible for the flooding of the Penrith and Emu Plains floodplain. it is on this floodplain that the subject site sits.

As the Nepean River reaches Windsor, the normal river level is close to sea level and the river is slightly tidal. Downstream of Windsor, the river flows into the narrow Sackville Gorge. It is approximately 100 kilometres by river from Windsor to the Tasman Sea

The constriction caused by the Sackville Gorge and the fact that there is little fall over the last 100 kilometres combine to cause the floodwaters to flow out of the floodplain much more slowly than they are flowing in. This bottleneck can result in flooding up to 26 metres above sea level on the floodplain between Yarramundi and Sackville. This type of flooding is analogous to a bathtub where the inflow from the tap is far greater than the outflow from the drain plug.

This also causes floodwaters to flow back up the River's tributaries, particularly South Creek, Rickabys Creek and Eastern Creek. Backwater flooding up South Creek and Eastern Creek can extend as far as St Marys and Quakers Hill and it takes several days for this ponded water to flow out to sea.



**Nepean Business Park** Flood Evacuation Report







Figure 1: Hawkesbury-Nepean Floodplains

Nepean Business Park

Flood Evacuation Report





While flooding of this floodplain does not directly affect the site, some of the traffic evacuating from this floodplain would be directed south towards Penrith and the potential for it to converge with traffic evacuating from the site and its surrounds needs to be considered.

There are several smaller floodplains downstream of Sackville but they too are not relevant to this investigation.

# 2.2 Flooding at the Site

#### 2.2.1 Locality

The site is located in Penrith and is situated between Castlereagh Road to the east and Nepean River to the west. The location is referred to as the Nepean Business Park and is shown in Figure 2.

The site covers approximately 49 hectares. Figure 3 shows the indicative layout plan for the proposed subdivision. It consists of a total of 93 lots ranging in size from 2,006m<sup>2</sup> to 20,236m<sup>2</sup>. It will have road access from Lugard Street in the east and Old Castlereagh Road in the north. It will have an internal ring road network.

#### 2.2.2 Topography and Drainage

A sharp bend in the river and a narrowing of the channel downstream of Emu Plains creates a constriction which is responsible for the flooding of the Penrith and Emu Plains floodplain. The precinct is on the outside of this bend and will have a minimum ground level of around 27m AHD compared to the normal river level which is at about 12m AHD.

Boundary Creek enters the River from the east about 650m south of the precinct.

#### 2.2.3 Flood Models

There are three computer flood models which have been developed which provide flood information relevant to the site.

#### (a) The Rubicon model

This was developed in the 1980s by WMAWater for Sydney Water and covers the whole of the Hawkesbury Nepean River from downstream of Warragamba Dam to Brooklyn. It is a one dimensional model which uses more than 350 cross sections along the river and across the floodplain to estimate flows and levels and then interpolates between those cross sections to create flood surfaces. It does not represent features on the floodplain such as bridges and culverts particularly well. This model was most recently updated and its outputs reported in 2019 (WMAwater, 2019). It is being used by Infrastructure NSW (INSW) to estimate the costs and benefits of flood mitigation options for the Hawkesbury Nepean Valley.

#### (b) The RMA2 model

The RMA2 model is a two dimensional flood model of the Nepean River between Regentville and Yarramundi and uses upstream inflow hydrographs provided by the Rubicon model. This model was developed by Advisian for Penrith City Council and was most recently updated in 2018 (Advisian, 2018). Penrith City Council has been using this model to set its flood planning levels and determine the impacts of development on the floodplain. It includes details of floodplain features.

#### (c) The TUFLOW model

The TUFLOW model is a two dimensional flood model which was prepared by BMT for the Penrith Lakes Development Corporation to design the landforms in Penrith Lakes. Water Technology subsequently took this model and incorporated floodplain features such as bridges and culverts which are outside of Penrith Lakes and it was calibrated to the RMA2 model.





78



The peak flood levels of given probabilities do not find agreement between the three models for all events but is not necessarily problematic for evacuation modelling which is more concerned with rates of flood risk. The flood levels which are cited in this report are generally taken from the Rubicon model because this is the model which NSW SES has been using for the past 30 years to inform its evacuation planning. However, at the time that the evacuation analysis reported here was being undertaken, access to the Rubicon model outputs were not available and so the TUFLOW model was used to estimate relative evacuation trigger levels and cutoff timings across the Penrith floodplain.

As will be explained later, it was also necessary to estimate relative timings of evacuations from the Hawkesbury floodplain around Richmond and Windsor. For that purpose an RMA 2 model of the Hawkesbury River developed by Advisian for Hawkesbury City Council was used.

#### 2.2.1 Nepean River

The largest flood on record in the Hawkesbury-Nepean valley occurred in 1867 when the river level reached 26.9 metres Australian Height Datum (AHD) at Victoria Bridge at Penrith. This flood is estimated to have between a 1 in 200 and a 1 in 500 chance of occurrence in any year. A PMF event would reach a level of approximately 32.1 metres AHD at Victoria Bridge.

Sediment within the Fairlight Gorge in the Nepean River upstream of Penrith shows that prior to European settlement at least one flood reached or exceeded the level of a flood with about a 1 in 1,000 chance per year level of 27.6 metres AHD at Penrith. The most recent floods in the Hawkesbury-Nepean Valley have ranged been 1 in 5 and 1 in 50 chance of occurrence per year flood levels. The March 2021 flood peaked at 24.2m AHD.

To place these probabilities in context, some of the rivers in Victoria which flooded in 2011 experienced floods with a 1 in 200 chance per year level, while some catchments in Queensland experienced floods in 2011 that have been reported to have had about a 1 in 1,000 chance of occurrence per year.

Flood waters from the Nepean River would initially back up Boundary Creek, eventually flooding Castlereagh Road and cutting the evacuation route south of the site. As the water level continues to rise it would break the river banks and enter the existing industrial estate immediately south of the site.

Further flood rises would result in the water to the south eventually flowing around the east of the precinct and cutting off its access via Lugard Street. At the same time the water backing up in Boundary Creek would have crossed Andrews Road, cutting off that evacuation route. Once water overtops Lugard Street it would flow through the industrial estate to the north and cut Old Castlereagh Road which is at a lower level.

Eventually the river overtops the banks adjacent to the site and begins flooding the site.







Figure 2: Location of Nepean Business Park



Nepean Business Park

Flood Evacuation Report







Figure 3: Indicative Layout Plan for Nepean Business Park



Nepean Business Park Flood Evacuation Report

PAGE | 12



#### 2.2.2 Flood Levels

The Penrith gauge is just upstream of Victoria Bridge which itself is upstream of Penrith Weir. The precinct is 700m downstream of the weir. This means that the water level at the gauge is higher than the water level at the site.

Table 1 shows the full range of flood levels which could affect the site. The table shows three levels. The first is the peak gauge level at Victoria Bridge for the corresponding flood probability (note that historically the gauge was set arbitrarily with a zero reading at 14.139m AHD). The second level is the corresponding peak height above sea level (m AHD) for that gauge reading. The third level is the peak level at the precinct which would be reached for a flood of that probability.

The 1 in 100 chance per year flood would reach a peak of 25.8m AHD at the gauge and about 25.0m AHD adjacent to the precinct. The entire Precinct is at or above 27.0m AHD and so would not be directly affected by the flood. However, as shown in Figure 4 its evacuation route along Castlereagh Road would be cut by floodwaters backing up Boundary Creek. The road has a low point of 24.2m AHD at the creek crossing and would be covered by 0.6m of water at this location.

Chance per year	Peak gauge level at Victoria Bridge (m)	Peak flood level at Victoria Bridge, Penrith (m AHD) <sup>1</sup>	Peak flood level in river at the Precinct (m AHD) <sup>2</sup>
1 in 5	5.5	19.6	18.1
1 in 10	7.2	21.3	20.0
1 in 20	9.2	23.3	22.2
1 in 50	10.7	24.8	23.9
1 in 100	11.7	25.8	25.0
1 in 200	12.4	26.5	25.7
1 in 500	13.0	27.1	26.5
1 in 1,000	13.4	27.5	26.9
1 in 2,000	14.3	28.4	27.8
1 in 5,000	15.3	29.4	29.0
PMF	18.7	32.8	32.6

Table 1: Flood history in the Hawkesbury-Nepean valley

1. Source – Hawkesbury Nepean Valley Regional Flood Study Final Report (WMAwater, 2019)

2. Source – flood model outputs provided by WMAWater.

A flood would have to exceed the 1 in 1,000 chance per year level of 26.9m AHD at the site and reach 27.0m AHD before the lowest parts of the site began to flood through water backing up into the internal drainage system and onto the lowest parts of roads.

The PMF peak level at the gauge is 32.8m AHD and estimated to be 32.6m at the precinct. The whole precinct would therefore be flooded with the lowest parts of the site flooded to a depth of 5.6m.







Figure 4: 1 in 100 chance per year flood levels

Note that the above figure is sourced from the Nepean River Flood Study (Advisian, 2018) which has slightly higher 1 in 100 chance flood levels than the Hawkesbury Nepean Valley Regional Flood Study (WMAWater, 2019).





### 2.2.3 Critical Levels

There are several levels associated with the Nepean Business Park which are critical to the safety of people and the protection of property. They are:

- 23.0m AHD the forecast flood level at Penrith gauge which has been selected in this modelling as the evacuation trigger level for the Nepean Business Park and other premises within the Penrith North A subsector. This level has slightly better than a 1 in 20 chance of occurring per year.
- 24.2m AHD the lowest point along Castlereagh Road which is the primary evacuation route for the site. All vehicles should leave the precinct before flooding reaches this level at Castlereagh Road. This has between a 1 in 20 and 1 in 50 chance of occurring per year.
- 25.4m AHD the lowest point on Lugard Street. When flooding exceeds this level adjacent to the precinct, exiting the precinct by car or on foot in this direction becomes dangerous. Water would flow north from this point and cut Old Castlereagh Road which is at a lower level. Andrews Road would also be cut by water backing up Boundary Creek. Once this level is reached safe evacuation routes from the site are effectively cut. This has less than a 1 in 100 chance of occurring per year.
- 27.0m AHD the lowest point within the precinct. At this level floodwaters enter the precinct directly from the river via the internal drainage system. This has about a 1 in 1,000 chance of occurring per year
- 30.5m AHD the highest ground level within the precinct would flood. This has between a 1 in 5,000 and 1 in 100,000 chance of occurring per year

Floor levels in each of the buildings within the precinct vary and details of those should be provided in each respective flood response plan. Some may have mezzanine floors or first floors which are above the reach of the PMF. An extreme flood could isolate the precinct for up to three days.

#### 2.2.1 Rate of Flood Rise

The rate at which this water rises will vary depending on how big the flood is and how quickly the rain is falling as well as the temporal and spatial distribution of the rainfall. For the purposes of evacuation modelling in this analysis, the 72 hour design PMF was used because this would result in the maximum number of vehicles evacuating and, of the design flood events which were available, this was the fastest rising event other than the 24 hour design PMF.

It should also be noted that the peak at the site will occur a little while after the flood has peaked at Victoria Bridge because of the time it takes the flood peak to travel downstream from the bridge.



# 3 | Emergency Management Context

## 3.1 Hawkesbury Nepean Flood Emergency Sub Plan

The NSW SES has developed the Hawkesbury Nepean Flood Emergency Sub Plan (2020) which sets out response and recovery arrangements for flooding in the Hawkesbury Nepean Valley from Wallacia to Brooklyn. It includes an evacuation plan for the Hawkesbury Nepean Valley in the event that it is impacted by significant flooding.

The NSW SES has divided potentially flood affected areas into emergency response sectors and subsectors (Figure 5), which are controlled by the local NSW SES offices in the region. Flood response is managed on a subsector by subsector basis.

During a major flood, the Hawkesbury Nepean Flood Emergency Sub Plan makes provision for the evacuation of all populations which are at risk of being inundated as well as provision for evacuating those who may become isolated by floodwaters and would later need to be rescued if they are not evacuated.

The evacuation plan designates predetermined evacuation road routes for each sector as shown in (Figure 6).

Most evacuees are expected to find alternative accommodation outside of the floodplain themselves but those who cannot do so will be directed to Homebush Sports Precinct for processing and the provision of temporary accommodation.

## 3.2 Sectors & Routes Relevant to this Investigation

Nepean Business Park is within the Penrith North Sector which has The Northern Road Route as its designated evacuation route. This links to the Great Western Highway (GWH) and the M4 Western Motorway (M4) which would take evacuees east towards Homebush.

As can be seen from Figure 6, there are several evacuation routes which converge with The Northern Road Route and The Northern Road Route is not the only evacuation route feeding onto the M4.

Evacuation of Nepean Business Park will be triggered before most other subsectors in the Penrith area. However, if flooding continues to rise evacuation of other parts of the Penrith North Sector as well as parts of the Emu Plains, Penrith and Penrith South sectors may need to take place. Some of these share evacuation routes with Nepean Business Park and the potential for evacuation traffic to converge must be considered.

Also, areas further north including Richmond, Richmond Lowlands, Londonderry, Bligh Park, Windsor Downs and Windsor sectors may need to evacuate at the same time as Penrith Lakes and some of that traffic may be heading towards The Northern Road Route at the same time as traffic from the Penrith North and Penrith sectors.

Nine main areas which need to be evacuated are relevant to this investigation. They are:

- Richmond/Richmond Lowlands all evacuees would be directed south on the Castlereagh Route to The Northern Road then onto the Great Western Highway (GWH)
- Londonderry all evacuees would be directed south on the Londonderry Road Route to The Northern Road then onto the GWH
- Windsor some evacuees would be directed south to The Northern Road then onto the GWH.
- Bligh Park/Windsor Downs some evacuees would be directed south on the Llandilo Road Route to The Northern Road then onto the GWH.
- South Creek A some of this evacuates west onto The Northern Road and then onto the GWH







Figure 5: Hawkesbury Nepean Evacuation Sectors and Subsectors (NSW SES, 2020)



Nepean Business Park

Flood Evacuation Report







Figure 6: Hawkesbury Nepean Evacuation Routes (NSW SES, 2020)

Nepean Business Park Flood Evacuation Report

PAGE | 18 Great River NSW Pty Ltd - Draft 87



- Penrith North all evacuees would be directed east to The Northern Road then onto the M4
- Penrith some evacuees would be directed east to The Northern Road and onto the M4 while the remainder are evacuated onto Mulgoa Road and the M4
- Penrith South some evacuees would be directed onto Mulgoa Road and then onto the M4
- Emu Plains all would be evacuated onto the M4

While each subsector has a designated primary evacuation route, some subsectors have secondary evacuation routes which may be utilised by the evacuees and/or the SES during the event, particularly if there are incidents causing delays on the primary route.

The clearest way to explain the sharing of evacuation routes and the potential for convergence of evacuation traffic from different subsectors is to start with the M4 and work back through the system.

3.3 Evacuation onto the M4

Traffic from the Emu Plains Sector west of the Nepean River enters the M4 via an on ramp at Russell Street. This on ramp only has a single lane so evacuation traffic from this Sector would take up the capacity of a single eastbound lane on the M4 (Figure 7). There are some areas of Emu Plains and Emu Heights whose evacuation routes may be cut off early or who may not be able evacuate in time via Russell Street and they may be directed along Old Bathurst Road to the Great Western Highway at Blaxland. From here they would be directed east to the M4 where why would become part of the traffic stream evacuating from Emu Plains.

Some of the premises in the Penrith South Sector and some in the Penrith Sector would evacuate along Mulgoa Road from the north and the south to the M4. Although multiple lanes would converge at the Mulgoa Road on ramp, this too is only a single lane on ramp so evacuation traffic from Mulgoa Road would be restricted to a single stream of traffic entering the M4. At this point the M4 has three eastbound lanes but in essence the streams of evacuation traffic from Emu Plains and Mulgoa Road evacuees would take up the capacity of two of those lanes when both traffic streams are evacuating simultaneously (Figure 7).

The final stream of evacuation traffic arriving at the M4 would come via The Northern Road. The on ramp from The Northern Road to the M4 is also a single lane. This means that only a single stream of traffic from The Northern Road can enter the M4 and this would occupy the capacity of the third lane on the M4 when this traffic stream is using the M4 at the same time as Mulgoa Road and Emu Plains Traffic (Figure 7).

### 3.4 Evacuation onto the Great Western Highway

In recognition of the capacity constraints that the on ramp from the Northern Road to the M4 creates, and the fact that evacuation traffic from further west (Emu Plains and Mulgoa Road) could be taking up two lanes of the M4, the NSW SES proposes that the two east bound lanes of the Great Western Highway take evacuation traffic from The Northern Road when possible. Specifically, paragraphs 8.4.5 and 8.4.6 of Chapter 4, Volume 3 of the SES Plan states:

"The Exit Point for the Route is the intersection of Parker Street and the Great Western Highway, Kingswood.

However, the Exit Point may be extended from the intersection of the Great Western Highway and Parker Street, Kingswood to the intersection of The Northern Road Kingswood, and the M4 Western Motorway at South Penrith depending on traffic conditions and if the Emu Plains Sector is also being evacuated." (NSW SES, 2020)

These two lanes are also shown in (Figure 7).









Figure 7: Evacuation Routes to Great Western Highway and M4







## 3.5 The Northern Road

There are currently two southbound lanes on The Northern Road from Borrowdale Way at Cranebrook to Copeland Street at Werrington and then three lanes south from there to the M4.

Four streams of traffic from the Hawkesbury floodplain (Richmond, Windsor, Londonderry, Bligh Park/Windsor Downs Llandilo) may need to evacuate south along The Northern Road, entering at various points where it is only two lanes wide (Figure 7). The timing of evacuation from these subsectors will be triggered by forecast river levels at Windsor gauge.

Similarly, development in Jordan Springs East and Werrington can be flooded by Hawkesbury floodwaters backing up South Creek and therefore these evacuations will also be triggered by forecast levels at Windsor and will need to evacuate onto The Northern Road where it is two lanes wide (Figure 7).

Evacuation traffic from all of the Penrith North sector and part of the Penrith sector will need to evacuate onto The Northern Road. Their evacuation will be triggered by forecast levels at Penrith gauge.

### 3.6 Penrith Sector

The Penrith Sector includes several subsectors. Most of those which are west of Mulgoa Road would evacuate onto Mulgoa and then onto the M4. Those which are east of Mulgoa Road have several streets available to them which can take them to The Northern Road (Figure 7). Most of these areas have a rising road route up to The Northern Road and a large road network in which to queue between the peak of the PMF level and The Northern Road.

The exception is Peach Tree Creek West subsector which includes Nepean Avenue and Ladbury Avenue and their connecting streets. This subsector is a low flood island because their evacuation route can be cut by the Nepean River backing up Peach Tree Creek and cutting Ladbury Avenue near its intersection with the Great Western Highway.

### 3.7 Penrith North Sector

Penrith North Sector has five subsectors (Figure 7). Penrith North A subsector includes Nepean Business Park and its evacuation route is south on Castlereagh Road, east on Coreen Avenue before turning right onto Lemongrove Road, left onto Macquarie Avenue, over the railway line of the Evans Street Bridge, left onto Henry Street which merges into North Street and then High Street and then it would turn right onto The Northern Road and south towards the M4.

Penrith North A is a low flood island because its evacuation route can get cut by the Nepean River backing up Boundary Creek and first cutting Castlereagh Road south of the subsector and the continuing on to cut Andrews Road east of the sector. Penrith North A therefore must be evacuated before the river cuts Castlereagh Road at the Boundary Creek crossing.

Penrith North B is the industrial area between Boundary Creek and the railway line as well as the new residential development at Thornton. It too evacuates onto Coreen Ave and takes the same route as Penrith North A to The Northern Road and the M4.

Penrith North C is east of Penrith North B and is mostly residential land at higher elevation. It also evacuates on the same route and Penrith North A and B.

Castlereagh subsector includes Penrith Lakes and some rural properties to the north of Penrith Lakes. These evacuate along Castlereagh Road or Old Castlereagh Road onto Andrews Road and then south on The Northern Road.

Cranebrook subsector includes the old Cranebrook village as well as the newer development at Waterside. The NSW SES plan has these evacuating via Andrews Road onto The Northern Road but






there is a better evacuation route which they can take along Greygums Road and Sherrington Road which reduces the chance of traffic queues being overtaken by rising floodwaters.



**Nepean Business Park** 





# 4 | Evacuation Modelling

## 4.1 Timeline Evacuation Model

The NSW SES has developed the Timeline Evacuation Model (TEM) as an empirical means of consistently estimating the ability of people to safely evacuate by motor vehicle from floodplains (Opper et al, 2009). It takes into account the time people take to accept a warning, act upon the warning and travel along an evacuation route which may face delays due to incidents along the route. It then compares this estimated "Time Required" with the estimated "Time Available". The Time Available is derived from information about warning times, flood travel times and flood rates of rise.

The TEM was born out of the 1997 Hawkesbury-Nepean Floodplain Management Strategy, where the NSW SES applied conventional time line project management to the flood evacuation problem. It became apparent that this approach provided a clear and concise method for examining the evacuation process.

Since that time, the approach has been refined into a model that can be easily applied to different developments. The TEM has been used widely within NSW by both the NSW SES and consultants in evacuation planning, with the scale of the model ranging from small sub divisions to towns of tens of thousands of people.

The primary goal of the TEM is to compare the time required for evacuation with the time available for evacuation. This can be represented by the equation:

Surplus Time = Time Available - Time Required

or:

ST=TA-TR

Where the Time Available exceeds the Time Required there can be greater confidence that a community can evacuate safely by motor vehicle. Where the Time Required exceeds the Time Available it is unlikely that everyone will be able to evacuate safely by motor vehicle in all floods.

4.1.1 Estimating the Time Required

The time required (TR) can be described by the equation

TR = WAF + WLF + TT + TSF

Where:

- Warning Acceptance Factor (WAF) accounts for the delay between receiving an evacuation order and acting upon it. The NSW SES recommends a value of one hour.
- Warning Lag Factor (WLF) is an allowance for the time taken by occupants to prepare for evacuation. The NSW SES recommends a value of one hour.
- **Travel Time (TT)** is defined as the number of hours taken for all of the evacuating vehicles to pass a point given the road capacity. The NSW SES recommends an assumed road capacity of 600 vehicles per hour per lane. Therefore if an evacuation generates 1,200 vehicles and the evacuation route has one lane, then the travel time is two hours. If there are two lanes the travel time is reduced to one hour.
- Traffic Safety Factor (TSF) is added to the travel time to account for any delays that occur along the evacuation route. This includes potential for incidents such as vehicle accidents or breakdowns, fallen trees or power lines or water across the road. The NSW SES has developed







a table of traffic safety factors, where the safety factor is proportional to the travel time, ranging from one hour to three and a half hours (Table 2).

Travel Time TT (hrs)	Traffic Safety Factor TSF (hrs)
0 to 3	1.0
>3 to 6	1.5
>6 to 9	2.0
>9 to 12	2.5
>12 to 15	3.0
>15	3.5

Table 2: Traffic Safety Factors

The time needed to disseminate an evacuation order also needs to be considered. Generally, the NSW SES will broadcast the order by several means but will also initiate door knocking of the target premises. The model assumes that the evacuation order is not received at a property until it is door knocked and that at any one time there will be properties at different stages of the evacuation sequence.

However, this is only true if the number of door knocking teams available is equal to the number that would produce enough traffic to keep the evacuation route at full capacity. Should the number of door knocking teams available be less than this optimal number, then the travel time must be modified to account for this. If more door knockers are provided than the optimal number then the rate of traffic generation will exceed the road capacity and traffic queues will form until no more premises evacuate.

These TEM concepts are illustrated diagrammatically in Figure 8.

### 4.1.1 Estimating Time Available

The time available is usually the time from when an Evacuation Order is issued by the NSW SES to when the lowest point on the evacuation route is cut by floodwaters. The ability to estimate this time for use in the TEM will be very dependent on the quality of available flood data and the type of warning products which the Bureau of Meteorology (BoM) is able to provide.

In the case of the Nepean River, the Provisions and Requirements for Flood Warning in New South Wales (NSW SES, 2019) states that for floods forecast to exceed 8.9m at the Penrith gauge, 6 hours warning will be provided and at 11.3m AHD at Penrith, 8 hours warning will be provided.

The timing of such a forecast is called the Quantitative Precipitation Forecast (QPF) Limit and is the minimum time (in advance) that the flood height can be forecast with a high level of certainty. It uses gauging of rainfall and upstream river levels. This forecasting is not simply forecasting the peak height but any particular height being reached or exceeded. A QPF limit of six or eight hours has therefore been assumed in the evacuation modelling for the precinct and the surrounding areas on the Nepean floodplain around Penrith, depending on the forecast gauge level at Penrith.



Nepean Business Park Flood Evacuation Report







Figure 8: NSW SES Timeline Evacuation Model Concept

Any flood can be represented by a hydrograph at specified points along a river. A hydrograph plots how the water level goes up and down over time. Because the TEM is interested in the minimum time which is likely to be available, and there will be limited data about the possible rates of rise of floods, the PMF hydrograph is usually used for these steps. The 72 hour PMF hydrographs for Penrith and Windsor were available for use in the evacuation modelling of the precinct and have therefore been relied upon.

This does not mean that the TEM is only estimating the time available in a PMF. Modelled design floods and even records of actual floods only represent one possible rate of rise for a flood to reach a particular peak. Floods with peaks smaller than a PMF could rise at rates approaching that of a PMF, particularly in the range in which evacuation needs to take place which is often well below the flood peak.

### 4.1.2 Other Considerations

In keeping with the principles of the NSW Floodplain Development Manual (DECC, 2005), the results of the TEM calculations must be considered within a risk framework and merits-based decisions need to be made as to the appropriateness or otherwise of modelled evacuation arrangements for existing and proposed developments.

The following highlight some of the issues which need to be considered beyond the results provided by the TEM.

• **Traffic Convergence:** While each community, development or precinct must be evaluated individually to determine whether full evacuation is possible, it must be recognised that the





evacuation traffic from several locations may be directed to the same road and therefore the potential for traffic convergence to affect completion of the evacuation must be considered.

- **Safety Margins:** Any surplus time calculated through the timeline evacuation modelling can be considered to be a safety margin should any of the model assumptions prove to be non-conservative.
- **Consequences of Evacuation Failure:** There are many reasons why vehicular evacuation may fail. It therefore must be acknowledged that some, or all, of the evacuees will be unable to evacuate by motor vehicle. The probability and consequences of such a failure must come into consideration when determining the appropriateness of a new development. The Floodplain Risk Management Guideline: Flood Emergency Response Planning Classification of Communities (DECC, 2007) provides some guidance in this regard. The classification system determines whether those who fail to evacuate by car:
  - have safe walking access to a flood free area
  - would be isolated and/or overwhelmed by rising floodwaters
- Sensitivity of Variables: Default values for many of the variables used in the TEM have been determined by the NSW SES. It is expected that any application of the TEM will utilise these default values, except where it can be clearly justified to use alternative values. Other variables will be derived from available flood modelling, census data, council records and development details. There may need to be assumptions made in selecting values from this data for use in the TEM. The sensitivity of the TEM to these assumptions should be tested to ensure that any conclusions drawn from using the model are robust.

## 4.2 Evacuation Modelling for Nepean Business Park

The NSW SES recognises that evacuation of a development may not necessarily occur in isolation as other nearby developments may also have to evacuate at the same time. In the Hawkesbury Nepean floodplain there are multiple subsectors evacuating onto shared evacuation routes.

The Hawkesbury Nepean Valley Flood Management Taskforce is currently developing a dynamic evacuation model for the Hawkesbury Nepean Valley but it is not available for others to use.

Molino Stewart has created a flood evacuation model for the Penrith floodplain which also accounts for evacuation traffic from other parts of the Hawkesbury Nepean Valley. This modelling has been used to evaluate evacuation for the Nepean Business Park.

It uses inputs and assumptions provided by INSW and NSW SES and is consistent with the calculations used as the basis for the NSW SES TEM. The following sections explain in detail the inputs and assumptions used in the modelling.

### 4.2.1 Evacuation Routes

The regional evacuation routes for each sector as set out in the Hawkesbury Nepean Flood Emergency Sub Plan (2020) and shown in (Figure 6) were generally used. The Penrith North Sector evacuates onto The Northern Road.

There was one slight amendment to the regional evacuation route from Richmond which was used in the modelling. The detail of the Castlereagh Road Route in Figure 6 takes Richmond, Richmond Lowlands and Agnes Banks South evacuation traffic from Castlereagh Road to The Northern Road through several roads including Laycock Street and Andrews Road. These latter two roads were also the NSW SES proposed evacuation routes of the old Cranebrook township off Cranebrook Road and the new development at Waterside which are both part of the Cranebrook subsector. Our modelling clearly showed that if Richmond traffic is evacuating at the same time as traffic from the Penrith floodplain, then the Richmond traffic would block the evacuation of these other two developments and most of the vehicles would not be able to leave the houses, let alone leave the floodplain.







We therefore changed the evacuation routing in this area to ensure that Richmond traffic did not block the access of these two townships to The Northern Road. Even though their evacuation would be blocked by Richmond traffic when they reached the Northern Road, there would be sufficient road length for vehicles to queue above the PMF until all of the Richmond traffic had passed. The alternative evacuation routes are shown in Figure 9.

This modification has no real impacts on the evacuation of the Penrith North A subsector and the Nepean Business Park because it does not change the quantum of traffic already on The Northern Road when Penrith North A needs to merge onto The Northern Road.

The model was set up to focus on the evacuation traffic travelling south on The Northern Road which would then evacuate east either on The Great Western Highway or the M4 Motorway. Traffic evacuating on Richmond Road, Hawkesbury Valley Way, Windsor Road, Pitt Town Road and the Old Northern Road were excluded from the model because they do not converge with traffic evacuating from the Penrith floodplain.

There are three lanes heading east on the M4 east of The Northern Road but there is only a single lane on ramp from The Northern Road onto the M4. During discussions with NSW SES and Transport for NSW while building this evacuation model, they indicated that upgrading of this on ramp would increase its future capacity.

Traffic from the Emu Plains Sector west of the Nepean River would enter the M4 on a single lane on ramp from Russell Street so the modelling assumed that the Emu Plains traffic would take up one of the lanes on the M4. Similarly, traffic evacuating from the Penrith Sector and Penrith South Sector via Mulgoa Road would have a single lane entry onto the M4 and the model assumed all of this traffic would evacuate onto one lane on the M4.

The model was therefore set up with:

- Two lanes heading south on The Northern Road from Borrowdale Way to the M4 (it is noted that since the modelling was undertaken The Northern Road has been widened and there are now three lanes heading south on The Northern Road from Copeland Street to the M4)
- Two lanes heading east on the Great Western Highway from The Northern Road
- A two lane on ramp from The Northern Road heading east onto the M4
- Two lanes heading east on the M4 from The Northern Road with one of those lanes shared with the traffic coming from Mulgoa Road

All other roads were designated as single lane roads in the model.

The assumed evacuation route for Penrith North A, Penrith North B and Penrith North C subsectors was:

- Castlereagh Road to Coreen Avenue
- East on Coreen Avenue to Lemongrove Road
- South on Lemongrove Road
- South on Macquarie Avenue
- South on Evans Street
- East on Henry Street
- East on High Street
- South on The Northern Road
- East on M4









Figure 9: Alternative Evacuation Routing for Richmond, Cranebrook and Waterside



**Nepean Business Park** Flood Evacuation Report

 PAGE | 28

 Great River NSW Pty Ltd - Draft

97



The route from Coreen Avenue to The Northern Road is shown in Figure 10. It also shows traffic from further north on The Northern Road being diverted east on The Great Western Highway. The modelling shows that this is necessary to prevent traffic evacuating from the Hawkesbury Floodplain (particularly Richmond) blocking the evacuation of traffic evacuating from the Penrith floodplain. The modelling suggests this is necessary under the existing scale of development on the floodplains, irrespective of any future growth.

It was assumed Penrith Lakes (Castlereagh Subsector) would evacuate to The Northern Road via Andrews Road and all subsectors in Penrith East of Mulgoa Road would evacuate to The Northern Road on the many streets which provide right turn provisions into The Northern Road.

There is also traffic evacuating from the new suburb of Jordan Springs East and the established suburb of Werrington which both enter the Northern Road from the east. These are both part of the South Creek A subsector.

Figure 11 is a summary of all of the key roads leading into and out of The Northern Road in the modelling.

Table 3 is a summary of the evacuation routes used in the model for each sector and subsector.



Nepean Business Park







Figure 10: Modelled traffic arrangements at the intersection of The Northern Road and Great Western Highway



Nepean Business Park







Figure 11: Routes Leading to and from The Northern Road

Nepean Business Park





Table 3: Evacuation routes used in LSM for subsectors evacuating to the Northern Road

Sector	Subsectors	Route
Richmond	All	South on Castlereagh Road, east along the Agnes banks detour (The Driftway, Jockbet Rd and
Richmond	All	Wiltshire Rd), south along Castlereagh Road, east along Hinxman Road, south along Sheredan
Lowlands		Road, east onto east Wilchard Road, south onto Church Street, east onto Church Lane, south
Londonderry	Agnes Banks South	onto Cranebrook Road, east onto Vincent Road, south onto Grays Lane, east onto Hindmarsh
		Street, south onto Laycock Street, east onto Borrowdale Way
Londonderry	Londonderry	Local roads to The Northern Road
Londonderry	Berkshire Park and Llandilo	Local roads to Llandilo Road
Bligh Park	Bligh Park	Richmond Road until cut by flooding on South Creek, then Llandilo Road, west on Fourth Avenue,
Windsor Downs	Windsor Downs	south onto Terrybrook Road, west along Ninth Avenue
Penrith North	Castlereagh	Castlereagh Rd to Andrews Rd
Penrith North	Cranebrook	Boundary Rd, Laycock St, Greygums Rd, McHenry Rd, Sherringham Rd
Penrith North	Waterside Green	Laycock St, Greygums Rd, McHenry Rd, Sherringham Rd
Penrith North	North Penrith A	Castlereagh Rd, Coreen Ave, Lemongrove Rd, Macquarie Ave, Evan St, Henry St, High St
Penrith North	North Penrith B	Castlereagh Rd, Coreen Ave, Lemongrove Rd, Macquarie Ave, Evan St, Henry St, High St
Penrith North	North Penrith C	Coreen Ave, Lemongrove Rd, Macquarie Ave, Evan St, Henry St, High St
Penrith	Peach Tree Creek West	Nepean Ave, Great Western Highway
Penrith	Penrith	Great Western Highway or High St or, Jamison Rd, or Lethbridge St or Derby St or Stafford St to
		Jamison Rd
Penrith	Jamisontown East (Residential +	Jamison Rd or York Rd to Maxwell Rd
	Commercial east of Mulgoa Road)	
Penrith	Jamisontown South (Residential	Glenbrook St or Thurwood Ave to Ikin St, to York Rd, to Tukara Rd
	east of Mulgoa Road)	
South Creek A	Jordan Springs East	Wianamatta Pkwy, Lakeside Pde to either Jordan Springs Blvde or Greenwood Pkwy
South Creek A	Werrington	Victoria St, Copeland St



## 4.2.2 Vehicle Numbers

The Hawkesbury Nepean Valley Flood Management Taskforce provided projected traffic estimates for the Year 2041. These were provided by the Taskforce in 2016 and were the most up to date estimates available when the modelling was first done in 2018. These estimates were at a Sector level and were the totals of all residential and commercial vehicles which would be evacuating in a worse case scenario. They are presented in Table 4. No explanation has been provided by the Taskforce as to how these were estimated nor what a worse case scenario represents.

Table 4: Taskforce Estimates of Evacuating Vehicles in Sectors used in Evacuation Modelling

Sector	Total Vehicles 2041 <sup>1</sup>
Bligh Park	6,100
Londonderry	3,800
Penrith	17,400
Penrith North <sup>2</sup>	13,900
Richmond	12,900
Richmond Lowlands	240
Windsor	9,800
Windsor Downs	990
Total	65,130

- 1. Numbers were rounded by the Taskforce
- 2. Includes estimated 5,000 dwellings at Penrith Lakes

As traffic coming from the Hawkesbury was all coming to The Northern Road along routes which led from sectors it was not necessary to allocate Hawkesbury vehicle numbers according to subsectors in the modelling.

Furthermore, Windsor, Bligh Park and Windsor Downs have alternative evacuation routes to The Northern Road. For the purpose of the modelling it was assumed that 50% of the Windsor traffic would evacuate along The Northern Road. It was further assumed that the first 3,000 vehicles from Bligh Park and Windsor Downs would evacuate along Richmond Road until backwater flooding of South Creek forced the remaining 4,090 vehicles to evacuate along The Northern Road.

Based on approved development at Jordan Springs East it was assumed that there would be 2,667 vehicles evacuating from Jordan Springs East. The Werrington traffic was estimated using existing development numbers and an estimate of future development potential based on current zonings. A total of 2,400 vehicles evacuating from Werrington was included in the modelling.

It was necessary to breakdown the vehicles into subsectors in the Penrith and Penrith North sectors.

A Molino Stewart team used high resolution aerial photography of the floodplain from 2011 to plot the location of every individual residential, commercial and industrial building in the floodplain within a Geographic Information System (GIS).

Google Earth Street View was used to classify buildings as residential, commercial or industrial. It was also use to count letter boxes on properties to estimate the number of dwellings in multi-unit dwellings.

Dwelling counts were compared with 2011 Census data, where Census statistical areas were fully within the floodplain, and were found to be within 5% in the Penrith floodplain.

It was recognised that there had been further residential development on the floodplain since 2011 when the Census data was collected and the airphotos were taken. Of particular interest to this



Nepean Business Park Flood Evacuation Report





study were the developments at Waterside and Thornton which are both in the North Penrith Sector and which were both only partly developed. To account for these two developments, subdivision plans were obtained for the ultimate development of both and dwellings were assigned to each lot whether it was currently developed or not. In the case of Thornton this included several high rise apartment buildings with multiple dwellings in each. In this way the model accounted for foreseeable future development.

Similarly, it was recognised that planning approval had been granted to redevelopment of the Penrith Panthers site. The commercial premises and dwelling numbers from the planning proposal were used to assign dwellings and vehicles to that site.

In agreement with the NSW SES in 2014, it was assumed that there would be two (2) vehicles evacuating from each business address identified within each sector. Note that the number of business addresses is not the same as the number of buildings because there are some businesses with multiple buildings and some buildings with multiple businesses. The number of businesses addresses was provided by the NSW SES from data collected by Geoscience Australia. These were distributed in the model equally to each non-residential building.

Similarly, in agreement with NSW SES, the number of residential vehicles at each dwelling was estimated in two different ways:

- For existing dwellings and future residential development (Waterside and Thornton) the average number of vehicles per dwelling for that subsector from the 2011 Census data was used
- For any proposed dwellings for Penrith Lakes it was assumed that there will be 1.8 vehicles per dwelling

These were distributed evenly to each residential building in the model.

Future development to 2041 was accounted for using projections provided by the Department of Planning, Penrith City Council and Hawkesbury City Council in 2013.

When the Hawkesbury Nepean Valley Flood Management Taskforce provided projected traffic estimates for the Year 2041 in 2016, two different approaches were taken for distributing those vehicles in the Penrith North and Penrith sectors.

In the Penrith Sector, the number of vehicles per building in the original model was simply multiplied by 2.5 and distributed evenly across all buildings. This resulted in the total number of vehicles evacuating from the sector being equal to that estimated by the Hawkesbury Nepean Valley Flood Management Taskforce.

In the Penrith North sector only subsectors Penrith North A and Penrith North B have significant numbers of business premises. Geoscience Australia estimated that there were 384 business addresses in the Penrith North A subsector and 442 business premises in the Penrith North B subsector. On the basis of two evacuating vehicles per business premises there would be 768 and 884 vehicles evacuating from Penrith North A and Penrith North B respectively.

The 2014 vehicle estimate method had 4,586 vehicles evacuating from Penrith North sector compared to the 13,900 vehicles in the taskforce estimate. However, the former did not include any vehicles evacuating from Penrith Lakes and the latter accounted for 5,000 dwellings at Penrith Lakes. When that difference is accounted for there was a difference of 314 vehicles and it was assumed that because there was development in progress in Subsector B that these vehicles would all be in Subsector B.







With regard to Penrith Lakes it was assumed, for the purposes of modelling for Nepean Business Park, that any development at Penrith Lakes would either be:

- recreational or tourism development which would be evacuated early and would not contribute to regional evacuation traffic; or
- would be urban development based on a capacity limit determined by separate modelling of road infrastructure upgrades.

Accordingly, the number of vehicles included in each of the Penrith North subsectors for modelling the evacuation capacity for the proposed employment lands precinct are set out in Table 5.

Table 5: Estimates of Evacuating Vehicles in Penrith North Subsectors used in Evacuation Modelling

subsector	Total Vehicles 2041
8.1 Penrith North B	2,663
8.2 Penrith North C	0
8.3 Penrith North A	768
8.4 Cranebrook	1,404
8.5 Castlereagh	651
Total	4,900

1. excludes new development at Penrith Lakes

## 4.2.3 Evacuation Triggers

Evacuation of the Penrith and Penrith North Sectors will be triggered by flood levels and forecasts in the Nepean River at Penrith. Evacuation of the Richmond, Richmond Lowlands, Londonderry, Windsor, Bligh Park, Windsor Downs and South Creek A sectors will be triggered by flood levels and forecasts in the Hawkesbury River at Windsor.

The BoM has set minor, moderate and major flood levels for the Nepean River at Penrith based on the impacts that flooding would have. These are set out in Table 6 as both the gauge levels (which is what BoM will report and forecast to) and the corresponding elevations at both the gauge and the Nepean Business Park. Note that historically the gauge was set arbitrarily with a zero reading at 14.139m AHD. The site flood levels are lower than the gauge flood levels because the site is downstream of Penrith Weir where the river level drops. It should also be remembered that the flood will peak at the site a little after it does at the gauge because the water takes time to travel from the gauge to the site.

--

Table 6: Penrith Flood Classes

Class	Penrith Gauge (m)	Penrith (m AHD)	Site* (m AHD)
Minor	3.9	18.0	16.5
Moderate	7.9	22.0	20.8
Major	10.4	24.5	23.6

\* estimate only







Provisions and Requirements for Flood Warning in New South Wales (NSW SES, 2019) states that for floods forecast to exceed 8.9m at the Penrith gauge, 6 hours warning will be provided by BoM and for those exceeding 11.3m AHD at Penrith, 8 hours warning will be provided. These warning times are based on the flood travel times from upstream rainfall and stream gauges to the Penrith gauge and are independent of the rate of rise of the flood.

The Hawkesbury Nepean Flood Emergency Sub Plan (NSW SES, 2020) provides details as to when and by what means evacuation warnings and orders will be issued. Most of the means of disseminating these evacuation orders are by broadcast methods and broadcasting would be done on a subsector or sector basis, depending on the flood forecasts. The Nepean Business Park would be covered by the broadcast messages which covers the rest of the subsector. The extent of development within a subsector has no impact on the demand on NSW SES resources for orders disseminated by these means.

Although the Nepean and Hawkesbury Rivers are one and the same river and floodwaters that pass Penrith will flow to Windsor, it is more helpful for evacuation modelling purposes to think of them as two different rivers with semi-independent flood behaviours. This is because the spatial and temporal distribution of rainfall varies from flood to flood and there is a wide range of relative timings of evacuation trigger levels being reached at Penrith and Windsor. This means the relative timings of evacuations from the sectors which these two rivers affect can vary from flood to flood.

To be conservative, it was assumed that the first of the traffic evacuating from Richmond would arrive on The Northern Road at the same time that the first subsector in the Penrith floodplain evacuates to The Northern Road. The relative timing of the evacuation of other sectors triggered by levels at Windsor was based on the timing of their evacuation triggers being reached relative to each other on a 72hr PMF design flood hydrograph. A slower rising flood would see their arrival on The Northern Road more spread out than the timing which was modelled and would result in less traffic congestion.

For the purposes of evacuation modelling it was assumed that Richmond evacuation would be triggered when it was forecast that the river would reach 13.5m AHD at Windsor, simply to give the existing vehicles enough time to evacuate before their evacuation route was cut by a flood rising as fast as a 72hr PMF. Evacuation from the other sectors was based on a forecast of when their evacuation routes would be cut. The triggers timings relative to the Windsor hydrograph are provided in Table 7.

Table 7: Relative Timings for Evacuation from Sectors to the North

SES Subsector	Evacuation Via	Evacuation commences (hours) <sup>1</sup>
Richmond and Richmond Lowlands Sectors and Agnes Banks South Subsector	Castlereagh Road and The Northern Road	24.5
Windsor Sector	The Northern Road	26
Londonderry Subsector	Londonderry Road and The Northern Road	24.5
Bligh Park Sector, Windsor Downs Sector, Berkshire Park Subsector, and Llandilo Subsector	Llandilo Road and The Northern Road	32

1. Time first vehicles on evacuation route relative to Windsor flood hydrograph







While it is possible that local flooding of South Creek could require the evacuation of some dwellings in Jordan Springs East and Werrington, this would only be a relatively small number of dwellings. Far more would need to evacuate if an extreme flood on the Hawkesbury River backed up South Creek into these areas.

Unlike traffic from the North, which is mostly entire population centres evacuating once it is known the evacuation route will be cut but floodwaters will keep rising, only those parts of Werrington and Jordan Springs East which are forecast to be flood affected need to evacuate at any one time. However, it will be the same flood hydrograph at Windsor which triggers both evacuation traffic from the north and evacuation traffic from Werrington and Jordan Springs East. The South Creek A triggers are summarised in Table 8.

Trigger Level (mAHD)	19.7	20	21	22	23	24	25	26
Approx. Chance per year (1 in X)	500	750	1,500	2,000		5,000		70,000
Evacuation commences (hours) <sup>1</sup>	35	35	37	39	42	45	49	55

Table 8: Jordan Springs East and Werrington Evacuation Timings Vehicle Evacuation Distribution

1. Time first vehicles on evacuation route relative to Windsor flood hydrograph

The subsectors in Penrith North have their initial evacuation triggered either by the lowest lying building forecast to be flooded or a low point on the evacuation route forecast to be flooded as summarised in Table 9. However, in the case of Penrith North B, the initial trigger for both residential and non-residential properties is the lowest building flooding but there is a low point on Coreen Avenue which the non-residential vehicles must pass before it is cut. Then the land rises quite steeply so there was a series of triggers set for different bands of development within this subsector. These are summarised in Table 10.

Similarly, in the Penrith Sector there were initially triggers for each subsector but most of the subsectors have rising road access so their evacuation can be staggered based on updated flood forecasts. The triggers used in the model for these subsectors are summarised in Table 11 and Table 12.

All of the timings in the following tables are based on a 72hr PMF design flood hydrograph at Penrith and a six hour warning time for levels between 23.0 and 25.4m AHD and eight hours warning for levels above 25.4m AHD. They also assume that the NSW SES would issue an evacuation order only when it is forecast that the subsector will be affected by flooding. However, there is the opportunity to gain additional evacuation time if evacuation is triggered by the forecast of a level lower than that which would impact on the subsector.

For example, Penrith North A subsector would have its evacuation route cut when it is forecast that a flood will reach a level of 24.4m AHD at Penrith gauge. As this level is between 23.0m AHD and 25.4m AHD there would be six hours warning available and therefore six hours in which to evacuate. However, it would be possible to trigger evacuation based on a forecast of 23.0m AHD and in a flood rising as fast as the 72 hour design PMF this would provide an additional three hours in which to evacuate.

An evacuation trigger or 24.4m AHD would have a chance of occurrence each year a bit more frequently than 1 in 50. Dropping the trigger to 23.0m AHD would increase the frequency to something a bit more frequent than 1 in 20 per year. This frequency of evacuation is unlikely to be a significant inconvenience and cost to businesses. This is particularly so when it is considered that if a

Nepean Business Park





business is open 60 hours per week, then it is actually closed 64% of the time and would not have to evacuate people from site if an evacuation is called when it is already closed.

Discussions with NSW SES indicate that it is contemplating an early trigger for this subsector. Accordingly, a trigger of 23.0m AHD was used for the Penrith North A subsector in the modelling.

SES Subsector	Low Point Type	Low Point Location	Low Point Ground Level (m)	Inundated at (hours)	Height at Penrith Gauge (m)	Evacuation Triggered at (hours)
North Penrith A	Road Cut	Castlereagh Rd (Boundary Ck)	24.2	16	24.4	10
North Penrith B (Commercial and Industrial)	Building Inundated (Commercial and Industrial)	Coombes Dr (Boundary Ck)	24.0	16	24.4	10
North Penrith B (Residential - Thornton)	Building Inundated (Residential)	Northeast corner of development	25.0	22	26.2	14
North Penrith C	Building Inundated	Western edge	27	27		19
Penrith Lakes	Development flooded	1% flood level	21.7	27		14*
Waterside	Building Inundated (Residential)	Fulmar Way	21.7	24	26.5	16
Castlereagh	Road Cut	Castlereagh Rd (near Smith Rd)	17.4	19.5	25.5	11.5
Cranebrook	Building Inundated (Residential)	Sardam Ave	20.8	25.5	26.8	17.5
	nrith Lakes is triggere the Penrith Gauge.	ed when a flood equa	l to, or exceed	ling, a 1% Averag	ge Exceedance F	Probability (AEP)

Table 9: Low points triggering evacuation of subsectors within the Penrith North Sector

Table 10: Staged trigger levels for evacuation of Penrith North B subsector within the Penrith North Sector

Ground Levels (n	Ground Levels (m AHD)		26-27	27-28	>28
Warning Trigger time (hr)	Commercial	10.0	14.0	14.0	14.0
	Residential	10.0	16.0	21.5	27.0





Table 11: Low points triggering evacuation of subsectors within the Penrith Sector

SES Subsector	Low Point Type	Low Point Location	Low Point Ground Level (m AHD)	Inundated at (hours)	Height at Penrith Gauge (m)	Evacuation Triggered at (hours)
Peach Tree Creek West	Road Cut	Ladbury Avenue (near High Street)	23.6	15	24.0	9.0
Penrith	Building Inundated (Residential)	Corner of Mulgoa Road and Rodley Avenue	26.8	25	26.8	17.0
Jamisontown East	Building Inundated (Residential)	Corner of Mulgoa Road and Jamison Road	27.5	27.5	27.3	19.5
Jamisontown South	Building Inundated (Residential)	Snowden Street (near Fairfield Place)	28.4	29.5	27.8	21.5

Table 12: Staged trigger levels for evacuation of Penrith, Jamisontown East and Jamisontown South subsectors within the Penrith Sector

Ground Levels (	(m AHD)	26.5-27.5	27.5-28.5	28.5-29.5	29.5-30.5	>30.5
Warning	Penrith	18.0	20.5	22.5	26.5	34.5
Trigger time	Jamisontown East	18.0	20.5	22.5	24.0	24.0
(hr)	Jamisontown South	18.0	20.5	22.5	26.5	29

### 4.2.4 Evacuation Timing and Capacities

The model used the evacuation sequencing recommended by the NSW SES in its Timeline Evacuation Model viz:

Warning Acceptance Factor – one hour

Warning Lag Factor – one hour

Travel Time – each lane of the roads on the evacuation routes can flow at 600 vehicles per hour per lane

Traffic Safety Factor – as per the NSW SES recommended values in Table 2.

It was also assumed that within each subsector the warning would be disseminated at a rate which would generate a constant flow of 600 vehicles per hour from the subsector.







# 5 | Evacuation Modelling Results

The model was run using the assumptions and inputs as set out in Section 4.2. A detailed analysis of evacuation of Nepean Business Park was undertaken at four levels:

- Penrith North A subsector
- Penrith North Sector
- Penrith Floodplain
- Hawkesbury Nepean Valley

# 5.1 Penrith North A Subsector Evacuation

The results of the application of the TEM to Penrith North A subsector in isolation are presented in Table 13. This indicates that there is 4.3 hours surplus time for the existing subsector traffic.

Table 13: Application of TEM to Penrith North A Subsector

Development Name:	Penrith North A				
Date:		11/09/2021			
Calculation ID:	PNA Existing				
Notes:	Current Development evacuating	along Castlereagh Road and Coreen Avenue			
Data Type	Input Data	Data Source			
Residential					
Number of Dwellings		0			
Vehicles Per Dwelling					
(OR) Total Number of Residential Vehicles					
percentage of census respondents not reporting					
Residential Vehicles		0 Calculated			
Commercial					
Number of Business Premises		4 Goescience Australia 2014			
Vehicles Per Business		2 As agreed with NSW SES 2014			
(OR) Total Number of Commercial Vehicles					
Commercial Vehicles		8 Calculated			
Total Vehicles (TV) = residential + commercial	76	8 Calculated			
Evacuation Route					
Number of Lanes		1 Coreen Avenue			
Evacuation Route Capacity (RC) (veh/hr)	60	0 Calculated			
Evacuation Timing (hrs)					
Warning Acceptance Factor (WAF)		1 SES recommended value			
Warning Lag Factor (WLF)		1 SES recommended value			
Travel Time (TT) = TV/RC	1.	3 Calculated			
Traffic Safety Factor (TSF)		1 SES recommended value			
Total Time Required to evacuate (TR)	4.	3 Calculated			
Time Available (hrs)					
		Provisions and Requirements for Flood Warning in New			
BOM Forecast Time		6 South Wales (NSW SES, 2019)			
Early warning at 23.0 v 24.4m AHD at Penrith Gauge		3 allowance for rise from 23.0 to 24.4 in 72hr PMF			
Total Time Available (TA)		9 Calculated			
Surplus Time (ST) = TA-TR		Calculated			
	283	2 spare capacity			
Flood Emergency Response Classification	Low Flood Island				
Кеу					
Development specific data which needs to be inputted					
SES recommended values					
Calculated Outputs					







The surplus evacuation time could be taken up with additional vehicles as part of the Nepean Business Park development. Table 13 suggests that more than 2,800 additional evacuating vehicles could be accommodated within the available evacuation time giving a total of 3,600 vehicles evacuating from the subsector. However, this would increase the time that vehicles are on the road and therefore the TSF would increase to 1.5hours and only 3,300 vehicles in total would be able to evacuate.

While the NSW SES and the Hawkesbury Nepean Taskforce have not revealed how they have estimated the total number of vehicles which need to evacuate from the Hawkesbury Nepean floodplain, work on other projects with NSW SES suggests that travel to work data has been used to estimate the number of cars which would need to evacuate from non-residential premises. It is further understood that if the person driving the car lives in the floodplain, their evacuation is included in the residential vehicle count and not in the non-residential vehicle count and only those people who drive to work and live outside of the floodplain are counted for the purposes of calculating evacuating non-residential vehicles.

For example, if 40% of the workforce at Nepean Business Park live within the floodplain (e.g. Richmond, Windsor or a floodprone part of Penrith) then only 60% of the vehicles on site contribute to the evacuation traffic. Therefore, if Nepean Business Park can accommodate 2,532 additional evacuating vehicles, it can accommodate 4,220 vehicles on site. Furthermore, if say only 80% of the workforce drive a car to work, then there would be capacity to accommodate a workforce of 5,275 at Nepean Business Park.

# 5.2 Penrith North Sector Evacuation

As previously explained, Penrith North A subsector is one subsector in the Penrith North sector (see Figure 7 for the location of all the subsectors and their evacuation routes). It shares an evacuation route with the neighbouring Penrith North B subsector. Another subsector which also shares part of the same evacuation route is the Penrith North C subsector Figure 5. On the other hand, Cranebrook subsector includes Cranebrook village and Waterside and evacuates via Andrews Road onto The Northern Road. Finally, the Castlereagh subsector covers the whole of the Penrith Lakes Scheme and a handful of rural properties immediately to its north. This subsector would also evacuate via Andrews Road to The Northern Road.

The following subsections consider how the Penrith North A evacuation traffic would interact with the evacuation traffic from these other subsectors were it to be fully developed to a 3,300 evacuating vehicle capacity

### 5.2.1 Coreen Avenue

The evacuation modelling for the Nepean Business Park considered whether the evacuation traffic from Penrith North A subsector would be sharing evacuation routes with evacuation traffic from the other subsectors as the same time. Penrith North A and Penrith North B have the same evacuation trigger which is an earlier evacuation trigger than any of the other subsectors in the Penrith North Sector. However, Penrith North B is different to Penrith North A in that it has a generally rising evacuation route to high ground and its evacuation is only triggered because some low lying business may flood. Its evacuation can progress as the floodwaters rise. Coreen Avenue does get cut at the 20 hour time step at a low point about 200m east of Castlereagh Road and any premises west of that point must evacuate before that time. Therefore, for the purposes of the evacuation modelling, it was assumed that Penrith North B would not be given an early evacuation trigger but would simply get 6 hours warning to evacuate.

Subsector A on the other hand is a flood island which must evacuate before Boundary Creek cuts Castlereagh Road, its evacuation must be completed before that occurs. Therefore, traffic evacuating from Penrith North A can only use the road network for nine hours unless it has to queue







at a point of convergence with other evacuation traffic. Furthermore, if the delays for evacuation commencement and completion from the NSWSES TEM are taken into account, vehicles from Penrith North A would be occupying evacuation routes for a maximum of six hours at the assumed evacuation route capacity of 600 vehicles per lane per hour.

The residential areas of Penrith North B are east of the low point on Coreen Avenue and at a higher elevation and so their evacuation would be triggered at a later time. The ground elevation increases heading east until the subsector merges into Penrith North C which continues to rise to the east. It is expected that evacuation orders for parts of the residential areas of Penrith North B and C will be issued progressively as flood forecasts are revised upwards rather than unnecessarily evacuating people prematurely before it is known that their properties are likely to flood. Based on the data provided by INSW, a total of 1,779 residential vehicles were included in the model for these two subsectors.

Using the TEM, it is estimated that the travel time for the Penrith North B non-residential vehicles will be less than 1.5hrs and for all of the residential vehicles evacuating along Coreen Avenue it would be just under 3hrs. Figure 12 shows the relative timing of the evacuation of all three subsectors assuming full development of Penrith North A to its evacuation capacity and an evacuation trigger when 23.0m AHD is forecast at Penrith gauge.

As Figure 12 shows, the evacuation of some of the non-residential parts of Penrith North B may need to be delayed to ensure all of Penrith North A is evacuated but even if Penrith North B does not start evacuating until Penrith North A is isolated, there would be enough time for the whole subsector to evacuate before the low point in Coreen Avenue is flooded.

Similarly, all of the residential areas have sufficient time to fully evacuate before they are threatened by floodwaters. In the case of these areas which have continually rising evacuation routes there would be a choice to delay evacuation orders for the residential properties or issue them as soon as it is forecast dwellings may flood and allow traffic to queue on the evacuation routes when evacuation traffic merges with that from Penrith North B non-residential premises.

The application of the NSWSES TEM at this scale shows that there is sufficient time for the modelled vehicle numbers to evacuate before their evacuation routes are cut or they are overtaken by floodwaters.

### 5.2.2 The Northern Road

The evacuation traffic using Coreen Avenue would turn right onto Lemongrove Road, left onto Macquarie Avenue, over the railway line of the Evans Street Bridge, left onto Henry Street which merges into North Street and then High Street and then it would turn right onto The Northern Road and south towards the M4. This route is shown in Figure 13.

This route has a single lane until it reaches North Street where it widens to two lanes. Once the upgrade of The Northern Road is complete there will be three lanes from High Street heading south to the M4. North of the High Street intersection, The Northern Road narrows to two lanes southbound for a short section. Therefore, unless that section of road is widened to three lanes, there will be no more than two lanes of evacuation traffic coming from that direction. As the traffic coming from Coreen Avenue is only a single lane of traffic, Northern Road would have no capacity issues if traffic from Coreen Avenue is arriving at the same time as traffic from the other parts of Penrith North Sector as it would be three lanes of traffic merging onto three lanes of traffic on The Northern Road.

Where the congestion would occur is where The Northern Road enters the M4 as there is a single lane on ramp to head east. The relative timing of all of the subsectors in Penrith North sector is shown in Figure 14. Each colour in the graphic represents a different lane on The Northern Road.

Nepean Business Park





		TIME STEP ON 72HR PMF DESIGN HYDROGRAPH (HRS)																												
Evacuation Sequence	Subsectors	3	4	5	6	7	8		9	10	11	1	2	13	14	15		16	17	18		19	20		21	22	23	24	25	26
1	Penrith North A (Commercial and Industrial)						Warni Respor					Tra	vel			TSF	1 Carl Carl	road cut												
2	Penrith North B (Commercial and Industrial)										'arnin spons		Po	tentia	al Que	ueing		Flooding Regins	ravel		TSF		road cut							
3	Penrith North B (Residential) and Penrith North C															/arning spons		Poter	ntial	Queu	eing		Т	ravel		Flooding Begins				road cut

Figure 12: Evacuation Timing of Subsectors Using Coreen Avenue









Figure 13: Route from Coreen Avenue to The Northern Road



vacuation equence	Subsectors	3	4	5	6	7	7	8	9	9	10	D	11		12	1	TIN 3	VIE STEP	ON 72	HR PI	MF D	ESIGI 17	I HYD 18	ROGF 1	КАРН 19	(HRS) 20		21	L		22		23	2	4		25		26	;	2	27
1	Penrith North A (Commercial and Industrial)						Wa	arning ponse	3					ave					TSF	road cut																						
2	Castlereagh														/arni spor		Travel	TSF							road cut																	
3	Penrith North B (Commercial and Industrial)												ning		I	Pote	ntia	al Queue	eing		Trav	vel	TS	SF		road cut																
4	Penrith North B (Residential) and Penrith North C																		rning ponse	Po	otent	tial Q	ueue	ing		Tra	avel			TSI	:	Flooding Begins										
5	Penrith Lakes																		rning ponse																	road cut						
6	Waterside																				Warr	ning onse		Trav	/el		TSF													Bund	Flooding Regins	
7	Cranebrook																						War Resp	_		Pote Queu				TSI	:							Flooding Begins				
	LANE 1 Northern Road to M4 LANE 2 Northern Road to M4 LANE 3 Northern Road to M4																																									

Figure 14: Evacuation Timing of Penrith North Subsectors







As explained previously, the evacuation of Penrith North A has to be completed before t=16 hours when Boundary Creek cuts Castlereagh Road. Figure 14 shows that only Penrith Lakes and Castlereagh have evacuation triggers earlier than that time step and, when the two-hour delay for evacuation commencement in the TEM is taken into account, Penrith Lakes traffic will not start using The Northern Road until after Penrith North A has finished evacuating (Figure 14). In the case of Castlereagh, Table 5 shows that there are only about 65 vehicles having to evacuate. If these vehicles had to queue while merging with Penrith North A traffic at the M4 the queue would be less than 400m long and would be able to be accommodated. If the capacity of the one lane on ramp is increased then there may be no queueing.

If Penrith North B traffic has to wait for Penrith North A to evacuate, this will increase the duration that Penrith North B and Penrith North C are using The Northern Road, and therefore the M4 on ramp, at the same time as other Penrith North evacuation traffic. However, even if the maximum four hours that Penrith North A could potentially use The Northern Road causes a flow on traffic queuing impact, that would amount to a maximum of 2,400 vehicles queueing. At a length of 6m per vehicle that would a queue length of 14,400 km in total but as The Northern Road is three lanes it would be about 4.8km long. The Northern Road between Andrews Road and the M4 is 6km long and therefore could accommodate this length of queueing above the PMF if required.

When the evacuation modelling for Nepean Business Park was being undertaken in 2018 the only development approved at Penrith Lakes was the existing recreational developments. For the purposes of the evacuation modelling, it was assumed that events at those venues would be cancelled when a flood watch was issued or a minor flood was forecast and they would either not be used or would have evacuated earlier than any of the existing urban development. As shown in Table 9 and Figure 14, future development at Penrith Lakes would not be using The Northern Road until Penrith North A had finished evacuating. The scale of development which can be evacuated from Penrith Lakes would depend on the nature of the development and any proposed road upgrades.

# 5.3 Penrith Floodplain Evacuation

The flooding which triggers evacuation of Penrith North sector may trigger evacuation of other sectors on the Penrith Floodplain. These include the Emu Plains sector which includes all flood prone areas west of the Nepean River and the Penrith Sector which includes those areas east of the river between the M4 and the Western Rail Line.

The Emu Plains sector evacuates onto the M4 and, because it only has a single on ramp onto the M4, it cannot take up more than a single lane of the M4's eastbound capacity. Similarly, the subsectors between the Nepean River and Mulgoa Road can evacuate via Mulgoa Road onto the M4. Here too there is only a single lane on ramp so this traffic will only take up a single lane of the M4 for flood evacuation. As the M4 has three eastbound lanes at The Northern Road, it was assumed in the modelling that one lane of the M4 would be available for evacuation traffic coming from The Northern Road and so Emu Plains and Mulgoa Road evacuation traffic were not included in the model.

There was one subsector west of Mulgoa Road which the model assumed would evacuate onto the M4. That was Peach Tree Creek West because it would evacuate onto the Great Western Highway and it might be easier to direct that traffic directly east. It could just as easily head south on Mulgoa Road to the M4. It makes little difference because it has to evacuate early to avoid having its evacuation route cut at Ladbury Avenue and commences evacuation much earlier than the other subsectors in the Penrith sector. While it will be evacuating at the same time as Penrith North A, it only has a few hundred vehicles and can complete its evacuation within 30 minutes. This can either be accommodated by a short queue on The Northern Road or the additional capacity of the on ramp.







The other Penrith subsectors which were assumed in the modelling to evacuate onto The Northern Road were Penrith subsector and those parts of Jamisontown East and Jamisontown South which are east of Mulgoa Road. These are all shown in Figure 15. As can be seen, each has several roads leading to The Northern Road. They all have rising road access as well as significant areas between the PMF extent and The Northern Road where vehicles can safely queue above the PMF. Their evacuation triggers are generally later than those in the Penrith North Sector and they would not be evacuating at the same time as Penrith North A.

Figure 16 shows the sequencing of the evacuation of these sectors at the same time as those from Penrith North. It indicates that there would be some queueing but this would not crease significant problems because these subsectors have:

- rising road access
- large areas which are only reached at the end of a PMF many hours after evacuation would triggers for their lower areas
- multiple roads out and extensive road networks above the PMF but west of The Northern Road in which vehicles can safely queue.

## 5.4 Hawkesbury Nepean Valley Evacuation

Flooding on the Nepean River which triggers evacuation on the Penrith Floodplain is likely to also trigger evacuation on the Hawkesbury Floodplain further downstream where the Nepean River becomes the Hawkesbury River at the Grose River junction. The Hawkesbury Nepean Flood Emergency Sub Plan (NSWSES, 2020) proposes that the whole of the Richmond and Richmond Lowlands sectors and the Agnes Banks South, Londonderry, Llandilo and Berkshire Park subsectors all evacuate south onto The Northern Road. It also proposes that some of the Windsor Sector and the Bligh Park and Windsor Downs subsectors evacuate onto The Northern Road. This effectively means that there are several streams of traffic all converging onto The Northern Road from the Hawkesbury.

Vehicles numbers supplied by INSW in 2016 suggest that in the order of 25,000 vehicles from the Hawkesbury may need to use The Northern Road for flood evacuation, more than half of these would be from Richmond alone. As the traffic from Richmond would be reaching The Northern Road on a single lane, the 13,900 vehicles from Richmond would be on the road for more than 23 hours at a rate of 600 vehicles per hour per lane. Applying the NSWSES TEM would add a total of two hours for the warning acceptance factor and the warning lag factor and 3.5 hours for the traffic safety factor. This sector is a low flood island so it must evacuate before its evacuation route is cut. This would mean this sector would need a warning time in excess of 28.5 hours. The Hawkesbury Nepean Flood Emergency Sub Plan indicates that a maximum of 15 hours warning time is available. That is insufficient warning time for the number of vehicles which needed to evacuate from Richmond in 2014 (about 9,000).

Whether these vehicles would be using The Northern Road at the same time as the evacuation traffic from Penrith would depend on the temporal and spatial distribution of rainfall in a particular flood. Any floodwaters at Penrith would flow down to the Hawkesbury but would take several hours to do so. Furthermore, the Grose River and South Creek contribute to Hawkesbury flooding and the relative timing of those flows could either add to the peak at Windsor or simply prolong it.









Figure 15: Evacuation Routes of Penrith Subsectors

nce Subsectors	3 4 5 6 7 8	B 9 10	11 12 13	STEP ON 72H	16 17	18	19 20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30	
1 Peach Tree Creek West		Warning Response	Table TSF	road														
2 Penrith North A (Commercial and Industrial)	Warn Respo		Travel	TSF	road cut													
3 Castlereagh			Warning Response	TSF			road cut											
4 Penrith North B (Commercial and Industrial)		Warr Respo		I Queueing	Travel	I TSF	road cut											
5 Penrith North B (Residential) and Penrith North C				Warning Response	Potential	Queueing	Tr	avel	TSF	Flooding Begins								
6 Penrith Lakes				Warning Response								road cut						
7 Waterside					Warnin Respons		vel	TSF						Flooding Begins				
8 Cranebrook						Warnin Respons		ntial Travel	TSF				Flooding Begins					
9 Penrith						War Resp	-	Potent Queuei			Travel	Flooding Begins		Trav	el		TS	SF
10 Jamisontown East									ning oonse	Tra	ivel		TSF	d	Flooding			
11 Jamisontown South										Wan Resp	-	Poter Queu		Travel	TSF		Flooding Bogins	
LANE 1 Northern Road to M4																		
LANE 2 Northern Road to M4 LANE 3 Northern Road to M4																		

Figure 16: Evacuation Timing of Penrith North and Penrith Subsectors



# MOLINO STE VART

26		27		28	29	30		
	Flooding Begins							
		Tra				TS	F	
:			Floodi Begii					



Finally, a flood exceeding and event with a 1 in 50 chance per year would be needed to trigger significant evacuation from the Penrith floodplain while a flood with a peak closer to the 1 in 20 chance per year event would do the same in the Hawkesbury.

To be conservative, the modelling assumed that the first of the Hawkesbury evacuation traffic would arrive on The Northern Road at the same time as the first of the Penrith Traffic. However, the congestion which would be caused by this possibility was recognised by NSWSES and INSW and they advised that to minimise either Penrith traffic blocking evacuation of the Hawkesbury or Hawkesbury traffic blocking evacuation of Penrith, they were proposing to separate the two streams of traffic at The Northern Road and Great Western Highway intersection. The Hawkesbury traffic would turn east from The Northern Road onto the Great Western Highway while the Penrith Sector and Penrith North A, B and C subsector traffic would head south on The Northern Road. The separation of these traffic streams at this intersection is shown in Figure 13.

With this separation of the traffic streams, evacuation traffic from Penrith North A subsector traffic would have no impacts on evacuation of traffic from the Hawkesbury Floodplain because the traffic streams would never converge.

# 5.5 Sensitivity Testing

With any modelling it is appropriate to consider the sensitivity of the outputs to the model's assumptions and inputs.

It would be fair to say that most, but not all, of the assumptions used in the modelling, including those recommended by the NSW SES, are conservative and so the modelling results presented in this report present a worst case, extremely low probability scenario.

While it is important to understand the worst possible case when undertaking analyses with regard to loss of life, when evacuation consequences are inconvenient rather than fatal, more likely outcomes can be tolerated.

The following observations are made with regard to the sensitivity of the model outputs to changing key parameters.

### (a) Flood Behaviour

It has been assumed that the flood at Penrith and the flood at Windsor will be rising as fast as a 72 hour PMF. While it is possible that floods smaller than a PMF could rise as quickly as a PMF, the assumed rate of rise is at the upper end of the scale with regard to rates of rise.

INSW has commissioned a Monte Carlo analysis of different temporal spatial rainfall distributions across the catchment which has generated 20,000 flood hydrographs. Figure 17 compares the time the Nepean River takes to rise from 18.1m AHD to 24.5m AHD at Penrith gauge for the 20,000 events and the 72 hour design PMF.

It is estimated that the design flood used in this evacuation modelling rises faster than more than 99% of the modelled events. Therefore, there is a very low probability that evacuation will be necessary in advance of a flood rising faster than the one used in the modelling.











Furthermore, even if a faster rising flood were used in the evacuation modelling it would not make a significant difference to the outcomes for the following reasons:

- a) The NSW SES publication *Provision of and Requirements for Flood Warning* states that the target warning lead time for the Penrith Gauge up to levels of 25.4m AHD is 6hrs. It defines the Target Warning Lead Time as the <u>minimum</u> lead time what will be provided before the height or the flood class level is exceeded. It makes no statements about this being dependent on the rate of rise of the flood because presumably it is dictated by the travel time of fallen rain and river flows from the upstream gauge locations to Penrith whereas the rate of rise is determined by the amount of rain which has fallen. Therefore, the warning time available to Penrith North A subsector is a <u>minimum</u> of 6hrs regardless of the rate of rise of the flood.
- b) The rate of rise is only relevant to two aspects of the evacuation modelling:
  - i. When a lower trigger level is selected to trigger evacuation then the benefit of this in terms of increased warning time will be less if the rate of rise is faster. For example, we have used a forecast level of 23.0m AHD instead of 24.4m AHD to trigger evacuation of Penrith North A. At the rate of rise which we have used this provides an extra three hours to evacuate. The fastest rising flood which the NSWSES has used in its own evacuation modelling takes about 9 hours to rise 6.5m compared to the 11 hours used in the modelling in this report. event. In the time taken to rise from 23.0m AHD to 24.4m AHD this would make about a 30 minute or 300 vehicle difference in the modelling.
  - ii. It compresses the total time in which the evacuation of the whole floodplain takes place. This means that there is more overlap between the evacuation of successive subsectors, more queueing and therefore more potential for vehicles not to be able



**Nepean Business Park** 



to evacuate before being overtaken by floodwaters. However, the rates of rise in the graph are the rates up to 24.5m AHD. This is the trigger level for Penrith North B which is one of the first subsectors to evacuate. Evacuation of subsequent sectors is triggered at higher forecast flood levels. As the river rises it spreads out more and the rate of rise decreases. This is certainly seen in the hydrograph used in this report with the average rate of rise dropping from 0.5m/hr up to 24.5m AHD to less than 0.3m/hr by the time it exceeds 25m AHD. Therefore the difference in timing is likely to diminish in the phase of flooding when most evacuation is taking place.

Any slower rate of rise than that used in the modelling would provide more time for evacuees to depart and result in less risk of evacuees being trapped.

#### (b) Number of Premises Evacuating

The Taskforce or NSW SES have not revealed how they have estimated the number of premises that need to evacuate and out modelling has simply applied the vehicle numbers supplied. It is our understanding that the number of existing residential premises have been counted but for estimating future residential dwelling numbers it is possible that it has assumed infill development to the maximum extent permissible under existing zonings. This would mean duplexes and granny flats on every property which is of sufficient size and the construction of town houses on large blocks. This is likely to be a significant overestimate of the number of future dwellings if this is what has been done.

The 2016 Census indicates that dwellings in the floodplain had an average occupancy rate of about 90% on Census night. That means that when a flood occurs about 10% of the dwellings could be unoccupied and therefore not have to evacuate. If this discounting has not been applied then the modelling is overestimating the number of evacuating residential vehicles by about 10%.

The number of premises evacuating in the modelling is therefore likely to represent an upper limit.

#### (c) Number of Evacuating Vehicles

The numbers of vehicles per dwelling have been derived from Census data and while the number of vehicles per person has been increasing in Australia, the number of people per dwelling has been declining. It is therefore unlikely that the number of vehicles per dwelling would continue to increase substantially, particularly considering that Penrith, Windsor and Richmond are well serviced by public transport.

It is much harder to estimate the number of vehicles evacuating from business premises and the method used by INSW for estimating numbers has not been explained. However, it is now understood that INSW used Journey to Work Data released by the Transport Performance and Analytics (TPA), which is based on the 2011 Census of Population and Housing. It provides data at the Travel Zone geographical scale and includes data on the Origin Travel Zones (OTZ), Destination Travel Zones (DTZ) and mode of transport for every employee across NSW. Exactly how INSW used this data to assign non-residential vehicles to each subsector is still not clear.

On average, most business premises are unoccupied for more than 60% of the time so it is unlikely that all businesses and all dwellings will have to evacuate simultaneously. Furthermore, from the time that the first evacuation order is given to the time that the first evacuation order for the final subsector in Penrith is give is about 15 hours which is nearly two work shifts. It would be reasonable to assume that after the first 8 hours of a flood there would be no non-residential premises evacuating because they would have been told not to come to work when a mass evacuation is taking place.

Again, this supports the idea that the number of vehicles being used in the model is an upper bound number.







#### (d) Probability of Evacuation Numbers

It has also been assumed that a PMF will occur and therefore everyone will need to evacuate. A smaller flood peak will mean that fewer less people will need to be evacuated.

A forecast flood level as low as 15m would trigger evacuation of the whole of the Windsor and Bligh Park Sectors as well as low lying dwellings in the Richmond, Richmond Lowlands and Londonderry Sectors. This would have about a 1 in 40 AEP but should it become apparent, as the flooding develops, that a 1 in 100 AEP level will not be reached then the evacuation can be called off. Even then parts of the Londonderry Sector would not have to evacuate unless it were forecast that flooding would go even higher.

In other words, there is a about a 1 in 100 chance per year that as many as about 12,000 vehicles will have to evacuate from the northern sectors but less than a 1 in 1,000 chance per year that about 29,000 vehicles would need to evacuate.

In Penrith the probabilities of vehicles having to evacuate are even less, not only because larger floods are needed to trigger evacuation but there are also less areas which have their evacuation routes cut early in a flood and so areas can be evacuated gradually as flood forecasts are revised upwards.

Flood level probability (chance per year 1 in x)	Flood Level at Penrith Gauge (m AHD)	Subsector	Evacuation trigger level at Penrith Gauge (m AHD)	Total Vehicles in Sector	Cumulative maximum vehicles evacuating
20	23.5				
		Peach Tree Creek West	24	568	568
		Penrith North A	24.4	1,800*	2,368
		Penrith North B Commercial and Industrial	24.4	1,198	3,566
50	24.8				
		Castlereagh	25.5	163	3,729
100	25.9				
		Penrith North B Residential	26.2	3,663	7,392
200	26.5	Waterside	26.5	2,830	10,222
		Cranebrook	26.8	680	10,902
		Penrith	26.8	10,268	21,170
500	27.1				
		Jamisontown East	27.3	3,580	24,750
1,000	27.6				
		Jamisontown South	27.8	1,228	25,978
2,000	28.7				

Table 14: Probability of vehicles having to evacuate

Table 14 shows the probability of the various evacuation trigger levels being reached at Penrith Gauge for each of the subsectors in the Penrith and Penrith North sectors. It shows that in a 1 in 100 AEP flood less than 4,000 vehicles would need to evacuate. This would reach about 10,000 in a 1 in

Nepean Business Park Flood Evacuation Report





200 AEP event because of the most recently approved developments of Waterside and Thornton having to evacuate. Close to a 1 in 500 AEP event would be needed before more than 12,000 vehicles would need to evacuate.

Although the table indicates that a 1 in 500 AEP flood would trigger the evacuation of Penrith Subsector, only the lowest lying parts would need to evacuate in such an event. The remainder of the 10,000 vehicles which need to evacuate from this sector would only need to do so if flooding continued to rise. The same would be the case with Jamisontown East and Jamisontown South with the last of the vehicles only having to evacuate from these three subsectors were a PMF forecast.

In the case of Bligh Park a flood with about a 1 in 200 AEP would need to be forecast for the whole sector to have to evacuate and for Richmond it would need to be forecast to reach about a 1 in 1,000 AEP flood level.

#### (e) Traffic Convergence

Not only would a 1 in 1,000 AEP event be needed for anywhere near the modelled number of vehicles to have to evacuate, but the relative timing of the evacuation of the two floodplains would have to coincide to create the maximum number of converging vehicles. It is understood that the Monte Carlo analysis may give some insight into the chance of that occurring but the results of that study were not available at the time of writing.

For all of the vehicles to use the road a PMF would be needed which has a probability approaching 1 in 100,000 chance per year. The probability of the worst possible coincident traffic convergence on The Northern Road during such an event would be something less probable than 1 in 100,000.

(f) Flood Warning Times

The warning times used to guide evacuation triggers in the model are the minimum times which the Bureau of Meteorology is willing commit to based on observed fallen rain and measured stream gauging. In a real event there may be longer warning times available, particularly if rainfall forecasts are taken into consideration.

### (g) Warning Dissemination Time

The modelling assumes all houses are doorknocked to receive an evacuation order. It does not make any allowance for people receiving an evacuation order by electronic broadcast, direct contact from neighbours, friends or relatives, or by observing others evacuating nearby. While they may receive the message more quickly than assumed it is unlikely that the majority will receive it more slowly and so the capacity of evacuation routes is unlikely to be underutilised because of slower warning dissemination than assumed in the model.

(h) Departure Delays

The two hour delay between people receiving an evacuation order and actually leaving is a NSW SES recommendation. While post-flood surveys Molino Stewart has undertaken for the NSW and Victorian SES suggest that is about the right order of magnitude for people who evacuate, those same surveys suggest that the vast majority of residents do not evacuate at all when ordered to do so. Most would probably await the arrival of floodwaters at their doorstep before leaving and then it would be too late for vehicular evacuation and, for those who get isolated by floodwaters, too late for pedestrian evacuation.

Were this to occur in Richmond, Windsor and Bligh Park then hardly any traffic would arrive from these areas on The Northern Road. Were it to happen in Penrith, most people would be able to walk directly to higher ground with the exception of Peach Tree Creek West and Waterside. In either case it would result in considerable less evacuation traffic on the roads.

Nepean Business Park







#### (i) Route Capacities

Free flowing roads have a capacity of 1,200 vehicles per hour per lane or more and on motorways it can approach 1,800. A rate of 600 vehicles per hour per lane is conservatively low and is the rate recommended for modelling the departure of vehicles from car parks. It is unlikely that the rate will be significantly less than this.

#### (j) All Traffic Heads East on M4

Not all evacuees will want to head east on the M4 and Great Western Highway. Some will be able to find temporary accommodation with friends or relatives in flood free areas off The Northern Road but above the reach of the PMF in suburbs such as Londonderry, Llandilo, Mount Pleasant, South Penrith, Jordan Springs, Cambridge Park, Werrington and Orchard Hills. Indeed, many who are evacuating from business premises may live in those suburbs. Likewise, many evacuees will be able to head west on the M4 because that is where they live or it is where they can readily find temporary accommodation with friends or relatives. In this regard the assumed number of vehicles converging on The Northern Road and the M4 is likely to be an overestimate.







# 6 | Summary and Conclusions

This report set out the flooding and evacuation planning context of the Hawkesbury Nepean Valley and how that informed evacuation modelling of the proposed development and Nepean Business Park.

The evacuation modelling which was undertaken used:

- evacuating vehicle numbers provided by The Hawkesbury Nepean Valley Flood Management Taskforce
- evacuation timing assumptions as set out in the Hawkesbury Nepean Flood Emergency Sub Plan (NSW SES, 2020)
- flood warning times as published in the Provisions and Requirements for Flood Warning in New South Wales (NSW SES, 2019)
- evacuation sectors and routes as set out the Hawkesbury Nepean Flood Emergency Sub Plan (NSW SES, 2020) with some route modifications which are necessary to ensure that Richmond evacuation traffic does not prevent the timely evacuation of the Nepean floodplain under current conditions regardless of any development proposals for the subject site or its surrounds
- a 72hr PMF flood event which rises more quickly than 99% of floods
- the worst possible coincident arrival on The Northern Road of Hawkesbury and Nepean floodplain evacuation traffic

The modelling shows that:

- Richmond and other Hawkesbury evacuation traffic must be sent east on the Great Western Highway before it converges with traffic evacuating onto The Northern Road from the Nepean floodplain otherwise it will compromise the safe evacuation of existing Penrith development regardless of what development takes place at Nepean Business Park.
- these is sufficient road capacity for development to take place at Nepean Business Park and if evacuation is triggered when it is forecast that the Nepean River will reach 23.0m at Penrith then more than 2,500 vehicles could evacuate from the site in the time available and this would translate to even more vehicles on site when the origin of the vehicles is taken into consideration.
- there is sufficient road capacity for any queuing caused by the evacuation of Nepean Business Park to occur above the reach of floodwaters
- almost all of the modelling assumptions are very conservative and there is likely to be significantly more capacity to evacuate than the modelling suggests.









Nepean Business Park Flood Evacuation Report





# 7 | References

Advisian, 2018 Nepean River Flood Study – Final Prepared for Penrith City Council

DECC, 2007

NSWSES, 2019, Provisions and Requirements for Flood Warning in New South Wales Supplementary Document to the State Flood Plan v2.0 November, 2019

NSWSES, 2020 Hawkesbury Nepean Flood Plan

WMAWater, 2019 Hawkesbury-Nepean Valley Regional Flood Study – Final Report Prepared for Infrastructure NSW



